
 
 
 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Thursday, 26 May 2022 

Time: 6.30pm, 
Location: Council Chamber 

Contact: Ramin Shams - 01438 242308 
 

 
Members:      Councillors:  To be appointed at Annual Council on 25th May 2022 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
AGENDA 

 

PART 1 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

2.   MINUTES - 5 APRIL 2022 
 
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting held on Tuesday 5 
April 2022.  
 

Pages 3 – 14 
 

3.   21/00717/ENF - 134 MARYMEAD DRIVE, STEVENAGE 
 
Unauthorised use of the property as a House of Multiple Occupation (HMO); 
unauthorised erection of bollards on SBC land; flytipping; unauthorised erection of 
outbuildings and front extensions. 
 

Pages 15 – 26 
 

4.   21/01366/FPM - STAMFORD HOUSE, PRIMETT ROAD, STEVENAGE 
 
Extension to roof, with alterations to openings and materials, to facilitate conversion of 
existing office building to 11 residential apartments. 

 
Pages 27 – 58 
 

5.   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 
 

Pages 59 – 88 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

6.   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 
 

Pages 89 – 94 
 

7.   URGENT PART I BUSINESS 
 
To consider any Part I Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 

 
8.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider the following motions that: 
 

1. Under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as described in paragraphs 1-7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act as amended by Local Government (Access to information) 
(Variation) Order 2006. 

 

2. That Members consider the reasons for the following reports (if any)being 
in Part II and determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from 
disclosure of the information contained therein outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure. 

 
 

9.   URGENT PART II BUSINESS 
 
To consider any Part II Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 
 

NOTE: Links to Part 1 Background Documents are shown on the last page of the individual report, 
where this is not the case they may be viewed by using the following link to agendas for Executive 
meetings and then opening the agenda for Thursday, 26 May 2022 –  
http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/have-your-say/council-meetings/161153/ 

 
 
Agenda Published 18 May 2022  

 

http://www.stevenage.gov.uk/have-your-say/council-meetings/161153/


1 

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

 
Date: Tuesday, 5 April 2022 

Time: 6.30pm 
Place: Council Chamber 

 
Present: Councillors: Simon Speller (Chair), Maureen McKay (Vice Chair),  

Myla Arceno, Adrian Brown, Teresa Callaghan, Matt Creasey,  
Michael Downing, Jody Hanafin, Graham Lawrence CC,  
Mrs Joan Lloyd, Adam Mitchell CC and Graham Snell 
 

Start / End 
Time: 

Start Time: 6.30pm 
End Time: 7.20pm 

 
 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Tom Wren. 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

2   MINUTES - 15 MARCH 2022  
 

 It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Development Committee 
held on 15 March 2022 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

3   21/01362/FPM - SANDERS BUILDING & GUNNELS WOOD BUILDING, 
GUNNELS WOOD ROAD  
 

 The Committee considered an application for the demolition of existing buildings and 
structures and erection of 4no. buildings totalling 6967 sq m (GEA), (6623 sq m 
GIA), for uses within Use Class E(g) (Business), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 
(Warehouse or Distribution) of the Use Classes Order, together with car and HGV 
parking, landscaping and hard surfacing as well as associated engineering works, 
facilities and services. 
 
The application was before the Committee for determination as it was a major 
Commercial Scheme. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer gave an introduction to the Committee.  The 
Committee noted that the main issues for consideration in this case were its 
acceptability in land use policy terms; design, layout and the impact on the character 
and appearance of the area; the impact on the amenities of neighbouring 
landowners; the impact on highway safety and parking; the impact on flood risk and 
drainage; land and water supply contamination; and trees. 
 
Members had received addendum information and proposed conditions relating to 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 

the response from the Council’s Flood Risk and Drainage Consultant which had not 
been received in time to be included in the Planning Officer’s report. 
 
It was noted that the proposed development would involve the removal of 26 trees 
from the site which had not received any objections from the Council’s Arboriculture 
and Conservation Manager.  Concerns had been raised regarding an off-site oak 
tree located adjacent to the southern entrance of the site and it was recommended 
that a tree protection plan condition be imposed. 
 
In response to a number of questions from Members, Officers gave the following 
responses: 
 

 Due to the location of the site within non-residential Accessibility Zone 1, the 
requirement for car parking spaces was between zero and 55 spaces.  The 
development did however, provide 69 spaces which was considered 
appropriate; 

 The site was in a sustainable location, close to the station and a number of 
bus routes; 

 There would be no loss of pedestrian access to the Leisure Park; 

 New Building Regulations required all parking spaces including disabled 
spaces to have access to Electric Vehicle charging points; 

 The Highways Authority had made no objections to the width of the footpaths 
and cycleways. 

 
It was RESOLVED: 
 

1. that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions 
and the transfer of the signed S106 legal agreement which has secured 
and/or provides: 

 
 Travel Plan Monitoring 
 Employment and Apprenticeship Opportunities 

 
2. With delegated powers be given to the Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regulation in consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee to negotiate 
and secure the financial and non-financial obligations detailed above 
(including triggers where appropriate) as part of the Section 106 Agreement in 
order to mitigate the developments impact on infrastructure as well as secure 
the planning benefits which this scheme seeks to deliver. In addition, the 
imposition of suitable safeguarding conditions, with authority given to the 
Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation in consultation with the Chair of 
Planning Committee, to amend or add to the suggested draft conditions set 
out in this report, prior to the decision notice being issued, where such 
amendments or additions would be legally sound and most effectively deliver 
the development that the Planning Committee has resolved to approve.  

Conditions 

General 

Page 4



3 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 31366/PL/200; 31366/PL/201 A; 
31366/PL/202; 31366/PL/203; 31366/PL/204; 31366/PL/205; 31366/PL/206; 
31366/PL/207; 31366/PL/208; 31366/PL/209; 31366/PL/210; 31366/PL/211; 
31366/PL/212; 31366/PL/213; KMC18081 / 001. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 
3. Notwithstanding Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as 

amended) and Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or 
any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), 
the development to which this permission relates shall be used for purposes 
falling within Classes E(g)(i), E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2 and B8 of the Schedule to 
the Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended) (or within any provision 
equivalent to those Classes in any statutory instrument revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) and for no other purposes 
whatsoever unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority  . 

 
4. No site clearance or construction work relating to this permission shall be 

carried out except between the hours of 0730 and 1800 on Mondays to 
Fridays and between the hours of 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These times 
apply to work which is audible at the site boundary.  

  
5. No external lighting shall be installed on the site other than in accordance 

with External Lighting Assessment dated November 2021 unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

  
6. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing immediately to the local planning authority. An investigation and 
risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
  
7. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations set out in Sections 6.17 and 6.20 of Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal dated December 2021 unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

 
 Prior to Commencement 
 
8. No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a 

construction management plan has been submitted to and approved in 

Page 5



4 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved plan. 
The construction management plan shall include details of the following: 

  
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  

b) Access arrangements to site; 

c) Traffic and pedestrian management requirements;  

d) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for 

car parking, loading / unloading and turning areas); 

e) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  

f) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;  

g) Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal 

of waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;  

h) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 

construction activities;  

i) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 

temporary access to the public highway; 

j) Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site, a plan should 

be submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of 

hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle 

movements;  

k) A Site Waste Management Plan including mechanisms to deal with 

environmental impacts such as air quality and dust control measures, 

noise and vibration restriction measures, light and odour and predicted 

and latterly actual waste arisings and how this is to be managed and 

where it is sent to. 

l)  Dust control measures during demolition and construction from plant 

and machinery, and vehicles. 

9. No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a tree 
protection plan, which provides for the protection of the off-site oak tree 
located adjacent to the southern vehicular access to the site, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved plan.  

 
10. No development shall take place (including site clearance) until the full site-

specific phase 1 & 2 Geo-technical and Geo-environment ground 
investigations, as recommended by Section 9 of Land Quality Assessment 
reference 12937/EB/LQA, and a risk assessment, identifying both the 
aquifer and the local abstraction points as potential receptors of 
contamination, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 

  
11. Should the ground investigations and/or risk assessment as set out in the 

condition above reveal that remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Page 6



5 

Authority. Once the approved remediation scheme has been implemented, a 
verification report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Both of these steps must be carried out prior to 
commencement of the development (including site clearance). 
 

12. If works below the chalk groundwater table are to be carried out, a method 
statement, detailing the type of work (e.g. piling) to be undertaken and their 
depth, including mitigation measures (e.g. appropriate piling design) to 
prevent and/or minimise any potential migration of pollutants to public water 
supply, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The works must then be undertaken in accordance with the terms 
of the approved method statement. 

 
 Prior to Work above Slab Level 
 
13. No development shall take place above slab level until a schedule and 

samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces and hard landscaping of the development hereby permitted have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and permanently retained as such thereafter. 
 

14. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the 
specification and siting of the low and zero carbon technologies to be 
provided in accordance with Section 6.09 of Energy Assessment dated 
November 2021 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The submitted details must demonstrate that the 
development will meet the regulated carbon dioxide savings detailed in 
Section 8.00 of that same report. The approved technologies shall then be 
installed in full prior to beneficial occupation of the development and 
permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 
15. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the refuse 

stores as shown on the approved plans have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved refuse 
stores shall then be installed in full prior to beneficial occupation of the 
development and permanently retained as such thereafter.  

  
16. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the cycle 

parking stands as shown on the approved plans have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved cycle 
stands shall then be installed in full prior to beneficial occupation of the 
development and permanently retained as such thereafter.  

  
17. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the 

specification and siting of the active electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved EVCPs shall be installed in full prior to beneficial 
occupation of the development and permanently retained as such thereafter. 

  

Page 7



6 

18. No development shall take place above slab level until a scheme for the 
provision of petrol/oil interceptors in all vehicle parking and servicing areas 
within the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall then be 
implemented prior to beneficial occupation of the development and 
permanently retained thereafter. 

 
19. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the provision of 

adequate water supplies and fire hydrants, necessary for firefighting 
purposes at the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the 
scheme has been implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

 
 Prior to Occupation/Completion 
 
20. Prior to occupation of the development an updated Travel Plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
part of the development shall be occupied until implementation of the 
approved Travel Plan. Those parts of the approved Travel Plan that are 
identified therein as being capable of implementation after occupation shall 
be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein and shall 
continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is 
occupied. 

 
21. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility 

splay shall be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the 
approved drawing number 18081_001 Rev A. The splay shall thereafter be 
retained at all times free from any obstruction between 600mm and 2m 
above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway. 

 
22. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the 

proposed access arrangements, on-site car, motorcycle and cycle parking, 
servicing, loading, and turning areas shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved drawing number 31366/PL/201 A and retained thereafter 
available for that specific use. 

 
23. All planting and other soft landscaping as shown on drawing numbers 

827.10.01, 827.19.01 and 827.29.01 shall be carried out in the first planting 
and seeding seasons following the first occupation of the development 
hereby permitted, or the completion of the approved development, 
whichever is the sooner. 

  
 Post Occupation/Completion 
 
24. Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which 

within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  

Page 8



7 

25. No tree shown on the approved landscaping scheme, shall be cut down, 
uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be topped or lopped within 
five years of the completion of development without the written approval of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
26. No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a final 

detailed design for the drainage scheme for the site, which addresses the 
issues highlighted in [SBC REFERENCE], has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
based on the following principles: 
 

 limiting the surface water run off generated by the 1 in 100 year + 40% 
climate change critical storm to a rate of 7.4 l/s or less, in accordance 
with an agreement from the relevant body to whom discharges would 
occur 

 providing attenuation on-site for all rainfall events up to and including 
the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event; 

 permeable paving for all car parking areas; and, 

 ensuring site levels are set such that any ‘allowable’ flooding at the 
ground surface would be: contained within car-parking, access drives 
and soft landscaped areas (i.e. outside of buildings) for all events 
(including exceedance events); and also within the site boundaries to a 
maximum flood depth of up to 100mm during the 100 year plus 40% 
climate change storm events. 

 
The scheme shall also provide the following: 
 

 further consideration of infiltration as a means of discharging surface 
run-off; 

 evidence of infiltration testing, carried out in accordance with BRE 
Digest 365, at the location and proposed depth of any infiltration 
measure(s); 

 rainwater harvesting and/or green roofs (wherever possible); 

 appropriate treatment before discharge; 

 evidence of agreement (of principle and rates) from the relevant body 
or bodies to whom discharges would occur; 

 updated estimates for betterment; 

 increased depths and/or pipe gradients (wherever possible); 

 details of flood risk mitigation proposed for the substation and evidence 
of agreement with the substation operator; 

 an assessment of the risk of sedimentation of the system and any 
additional maintenance measures that may be required to mitigate that 
risk; 

 updated surface water drainage calculations and modelling for all 
rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate 
change event, including infiltration options; 

 an updated detailed surface water drainage plan, showing all proposed 
discharge points, SuDS features and pipe runs (with sizes); 

 detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including 

Page 9



8 

their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features, including 
any connecting pipe runs, along with all corresponding detailed 
calculations/modelling; 

 updated detailed exceedance flow path drawings for surface water for 
events greater than the 1 in 100 year plus climate change event. 

 
The approved drainage scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the 
beneficial occupation of the development to which this permission relates and 
shall be permanently retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

27. Prior to the beneficial occupation of the development to which this permission 
relates, a management and maintenance plan for the approved SuDS 
features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 
 

 provision of a complete set of as built drawings, including the final 
drainage layout for the site drainage network; 

 maintenance and operational activities;  

 arrangements for adoption; and, 

 any other measures necessary to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime. 

 
The approved plan shall be fully implemented from the date of approval and 
thereafter for the lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
28. No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a final 

detailed design for the drainage scheme for the site, which addresses the 
issues highlighted in LPA Response to Drainage Strategy dated 04/04/2022, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be based on the following principles: 
 

 limiting the surface water run off generated by the 1 in 100 year + 40% 
climate change critical storm to a rate of 7.4 l/s or less, in accordance 
with an agreement from the relevant body to whom discharges would 
occur 

 providing attenuation on-site for all rainfall events up to and including 
the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event; 

 permeable paving for all car parking areas; and, 

 ensuring site levels are set such that any ‘allowable’ flooding at the 
ground surface would be: contained within car-parking, access drives 
and soft landscaped areas (i.e. outside of buildings) for all events 
(including exceedance events); and also within the site boundaries to a 
maximum flood depth of up to 100mm during the 100 year plus 40% 
climate change storm events. 

 
The scheme shall also provide the following: 
 

Page 10



9 

 further consideration of infiltration as a means of discharging surface 
run-off; 

 evidence of infiltration testing, carried out in accordance with BRE 
Digest 365, at the location and proposed depth of any infiltration 
measure(s); 

 rainwater harvesting and/or green roofs (wherever possible); 

 appropriate treatment before discharge; 

 evidence of agreement (of principle and rates) from the relevant body 
or bodies to whom discharges would occur; 

 updated estimates for betterment; 

 increased depths and/or pipe gradients (wherever possible); 

 details of flood risk mitigation proposed for the substation and evidence 
of agreement with the substation operator; 

 an assessment of the risk of sedimentation of the system and any 
additional maintenance measures that may be required to mitigate that 
risk; 

 updated surface water drainage calculations and modelling for all 
rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate 
change event, including infiltration options; 

 an updated detailed surface water drainage plan, showing all proposed 
discharge points, SuDS features and pipe runs (with sizes); 

 detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including 
their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features, including 
any connecting pipe runs, along with all corresponding detailed 
calculations/modelling; 

 updated detailed exceedance flow path drawings for surface water for 
events greater than the 1 in 100 year plus climate change event. 

 
The approved drainage scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the 
beneficial occupation of the development to which this permission relates and 
shall be permanently retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
29. Prior to the beneficial occupation of the development to which this permission 

relates, a management and maintenance plan for the approved SuDS 
features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 
 

 provision of a complete set of as built drawings, including the final 
drainage layout for the site drainage network; 

 maintenance and operational activities;  

 arrangements for adoption; and, 

 any other measures necessary to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime. 

 
The approved plan shall be fully implemented from the date of approval and 

thereafter for the lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  

Page 11



10 

Informatives 
 
1. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 

construction of this development should be provided within the site on land 
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere 
with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be 
sought from the Highway Authority before construction works commence. 
Further information is available via the County Council website at: 

 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx  
 
or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
2. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, 

without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely 
to result in the public highway or public right of way network becoming 
routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction 
works commence. Further information is available via the County Council 
website at: 

 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx  
 
or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
3. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit 

compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made 
up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of 
any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority 
powers to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 

 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all 
vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development and use 
thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry 
or other debris on the highway. Further information is available by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
4. The developer is strongly encouraged to achieve Secured by Design (SBD) 

accreditation for the development. The Police Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor can be contracted by telephone on 01707 355227  

 
5. “Further advice on what should be covered in the Drainage Strategy can be 

found on the Hertfordshire County Council webpage for surface water 
drainage, at: 
 

Page 12



11 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/recycling-waste-and-
environment/water/surface-water-drainage/surface-water-drainage.aspx” 

 
 

4   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 

 It was RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 

5   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS  
 

 In response to a question regarding planning applications in relation to masts and 
associated ancillary cabinets, the Assistant Director Planning and Regulation 
advised that although the appeal at Fishers Green Road had been allowed, the 
Council’s Policy in this regard was robust and right and would be used when making 
recommendations regarding the installation of masts around the Town. 
 
It was RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 

6   URGENT PART I BUSINESS  
 

 21/00536/FPM Erection of electric vehicle charging station with ancillary retail unit, 
associated electrical infrastructure, car parking and landscaping. 
 
Following negotiations, the Committee was advised that agreement had been 
reached with regards to the drainage strategy and related conditions.  The new 
conditions as provided by the LLFA and agreed by the Chair and the Assistant 
Director Planning and Regulation and the Applicant were circulated to Members on 
the Supplementary Agenda.   
 
It was RESOLVED that the new conditions be noted. 
 
At this juncture, the Chair thanked Members of the Committee for their work during 
the Municipal Year and outlined the role of the Committee following the Elections 
and Annual Council meeting in May. 
 

7   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
  

8   URGENT PART II BUSINESS  
  
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 26 May 2022  

Author: James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257  

Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott 01438 242266  

 
 

Application No: 21/00717/ENF 

Location: 134 Marymead Drive, Stevenage 

Proposal: Unauthorised use of the property as a House of Multiple Occupation 
(HMO); unauthorised erection of bollards on SBC land; flytipping; 
unauthorised erection of outbuildings and front extensions.  

Drawing Nos.: N/a 

Applicant: N/a 

Date Valid: N/a 

Recommendation: SERVE AN ENFORCEMENT NOTICE 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Plan for information purposes only 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



- 3 

 
 
 

1.     BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The enforcement site is located on the junction of Marymead Drive and Broadwater 

Crescent which forms part of the Broadwater Conservation Area. The site itself comprises a 
two-storey, end of terrace property with a gable-end roof. The property appears to be 
constructed out of pebble dash render with the roof clad in concrete inter-locking tiles. To 
the front of the property is a front extension constructed from timber with a perspex roof 
which is partially screened by a mature hedge. To the rear of the property are various 
outbuildings and structures which have been built over a number of years.  

 
1.2 The surrounding area is characterised by residential development of predominantly 

terraced properties. To the east of the site lies is Stevenage Motor Centre Limited which 
lies opposite the Marymead Neighbourhood centre.  

 
 Site history  
 
1.3 The site has a long history of enforcement investigations which have been undertaken by 

the Council. These are set out in further detail below.  
 
1.4 Enforcement reference 10/00198/ENF - unauthorised change of use where the residential 

rear garden being used as a commercial/storage yard. It was identified from this 
investigation that a large section of land at end of rear garden was being used as a 
commercial yard/storage area. This case was originally dealt with in 2004/5 by the Borough 
Council. It was decided that enforcement action was not appropriate as the householder 
stated they had been using the yard in this manner for over 10 years. Therefore, this 
enforcement investigation was closed.  

 
1.5 Enforcement reference 12/00397/ENF - Rear garden in untidy state, material stored in 

significant quantities. Investigations were undertaken over a lengthy period of time 
(including as part of enforcement case 10/00198/ENF) and was considered that whilst the 
land was untidy, it was not severe enough to serve a Section 215 Notice.  

 
1.6 Enforcement reference 19/00682/ENF - Structure being built in back garden which may be 

for property for rental and structure to the front of the property. This case was amalgamated 
with enforcement reference 21/00717/ENF.  

 
1.7 Enforcement reference 20/00490/ENF Alleged use of the property as an HMO, construction 

of a large wood and Perspex canopy across the front of the property, in the rear garden are 
several timber constructions appear to be unsafe. This case was amalgamated with 
enforcement reference 21/00717/ENF.  

 
 
2.  Consultation with the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor (BEAMS) 
 
2.1 Given the property is located within the Broadwater Conservation Area, consultation was 

undertaken with the Council’s Conservation and Heritage Advisor with respect to the 
unauthorised works which have been undertaken at the property. The Conservation and 
Heritage Advisor advised officers on the 22nd April 2022 as follows: 

 
A lightweight timber structure with clear corrugated plastic covering to the roof and south 
side has been constructed upon the front elevation of the property; this is visible from the 
south but is largely concealed by the tall hedges that grow up around the front garden. It is 
not clear whether the front door and ground floor window have been changed / altered in 
size?  

Page 16



- 3 

 
 
 

  
A conservation area is an area of "special architectural or historic interest, the character of 
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance". The local planning authority has a duty to 
identify and designate conservation areas under Section 69 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
  
Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation Area was designated in 2007 as a good example of 
one of Stevenage's  Mark 1 'New Town' neighbourhoods. It focuses on the Marymead 
neighbourhood centre with shops / church etc and some of the surrounding residential 
development.  
  
Adding a modest porch / front extension to the front of 134 Marymead Drive would not be 
objected to. However, the current corrugated plastic structure is not acceptable. It is of poor 
quality both in terms of its design / appearance and material construction. It does not 
represent an appropriate addition to the host property; as a consequence it harms the 
significance of the Broadwater (Marymead) Conservation Area contrary to National and 
Local Plan Policy. BEAMS would recommend refusal of this if plans were submitted to 
regularise this breach of planning regulations.  
 

2.2 Following further correspondence with the Heritage Advisor, they state the following: 
 
 The whole rear garden appears to be filled with timber / covered areas / large sheds etc. As 

part of this, the structure you highlight in the photo below does stand out due to its height 
and although it has open sides it is a visible element in the street scene and one that does 
nothing to preserve the character and appearance of the CA (Conservation Area – Officer 
Comment) – particularly when seen with other development that has occurred within the 
rear garden.  

 

  
 
 Figure 1: Photograph referred to in Conservation and Heritage Advisor Comments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



- 3 

 
 
 

3. POLICY 
 
3.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 

decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory 
development plan comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
3.1.2 Dealing specifically with development in Conservation Areas, The Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes several ‘statutory duties’ for decision-
makers, all of which are applicable to the unauthorised development: 

 

  “Section 72(1): the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a 
conservation area, of any powers under any of the provisions mentioned in subsection 
(2), special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area”.  

 
3.1.3 Case law (South Lakeland, 1992) has determined that ‘preserve’ means ‘to do no harm’. 

However, if harm is identified, the NPPF provides a means of weighing either ‘substantial 
harm’ or ‘less than substantial harm’ to the significance of a designated heritage asset 
against the public benefits of the proposal. In doing so, case law has emphasised the need 
to give “considerable importance and weight” to preserving listed buildings or the character 
and appearance of conservation areas (Barnwell Manor, Case No: C1/2013/0843). 
However, the presumption ‘to preserve’ is not irrebuttable and “can be outweighed by 
material considerations powerful enough to do so” (Forge Field (Case Nos: CO/735/2013; 
CO/16932/2013) and a decision maker that has followed the process set out in the NPPF, 
in respect to weighing harm and benefits, can reasonably be expected to have complied 
with the ‘statutory duties’ of the 1990 Act (Mordue, Case No. C1/2015/1067). 

 
3.2 Central Government Advice 

 
3.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in 
conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered up to date 
for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that proposals 
which accord with an up to date development plan should be approved without delay 
(para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date development 
plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which 
should be given to an up to date development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 
38(6) of the 2004 Act.   

 
3.2.2 In relation to development in conservation areas, Paragraphs 199 to 202 of the NPPF 

(2021) have to be considered in the determination of this planning application. As 
established through case law, if there is any harm to designated heritage assets, great 
weight has to be given as to the impact the development may have on these assets. 
Dealing with Paragraph 199, it stipulates that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 

Page 18



- 3 

 
 
 

total loss, or less than substantial harm to its significance. Paragraph 200 sets out that any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or 
destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification.  

 
3.2.3 Paragraph 201 sets out that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to 

(or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss 
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. In 
reference to paragraph 202 of the NPPF (2021), this sets out that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 

3.3 Planning Practice Guidance 
 
3.3.1 The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 

familiar.  The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2019) which has the same status as the PPG. 

 
3.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted 2019) 
 

 Policy SP8: Good design 
Policy GD1: High Quality Design 
Policy SP13: Historic Environment 
Policy NH10: Conservation Areas 
 

3.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
 Stevenage Design Guide SPD (2009) 
 Broadwater Conservation Area Management Plans SPD (2009) 
 

4. DISCUSSION 
 
4.1 Aspects of the Enforcement Investigation where it is deemed there is no breach in 

planning control / it is not considered expedient to take enforcement action.  
 

House of Multiple of Occupation (HMO) 
 
4.1.1 The Council introduced an Article 4 Direction on the 20 September 2017 which removed 

permitted development rights to convert a residential dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a 
House of Multiple Occupation (HMO). Following correspondence with the Council’s 
Environmental Health Department, it is understood that the property was converted to a 
HMO prior to the introduction of the Article Direction back in 2010. As such, planning 
permission was not required at the time as it would have been classed as permitted 
development. Therefore, for the purposes of planning, it is not considered there has been a 
breach in planning control in this instance. As such, it was agreed that this part of the 
enforcement investigation was to be closed.  

 
Erection of bollard on public highway 

 
4.1.2 The Planning Department was informed that a number of bollards had been installed on 

land / highway verge adjacent to the property’s driveway located to the rear. Following an 
investigation into this aspect of the enforcement report, the Council’s Engineers have 

Page 19



- 3 

 
 
 

advised that no permission was ever given for the installation of these bollards. However, 
the Council Engineers have confirmed to officer in writing that they have no concerns with 
the bollards which have been installed on this land / highway verge.  

 
4.1.3 Further to the above, the Planning Department does not have sufficient evidence to 

demonstrate it was the owner who had installed the bollards on the aforementioned land. 
Consequently, officers consider it is not expedient to take any enforcement action on this 
matter. Consequently, officers consider this aspect of the enforcement investigation to be 
closed.  

 
Fly tipping 

 
4.1.4 Following a visit to the site by officers, there was no evidence of fly tipping on land outside 

of the enforcement property. In addition, the Planning Department to date have not received 
any further reports in relation to fly tipping outside of this property. Therefore, officers 
consider this part of the enforcement investigation to be closed.  

 
4.2  Aspects of the Enforcement Investigation where it is considered a breach in planning 

control has occurred.  
 

Erection of new structure within storage yard / dwellinghouse and erection of front 
extension. 
 
Policy background – Conservation Areas 

 
4.2.1 Dealing firstly with development in Conservation Areas, consideration has to be given to 

Section 72(1) of The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (see 
paragraph 3.1.2 of this report) and paragraphs 199 to 202 of the NPPF (2021) (see 
paragraph 3.2.2 to 3.2.3). In addition, consideration is made to Policy SP13 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (2019). This policy stipulates that the Council 
will seek to preserve and enhance the most important areas and characteristics of 
Stevenage. Criterion b. of this policy states “We will use national guidance and legislation to 
review, designate and determine planning applications affecting heritage”. Policy NH10 
Conservation Areas states those development proposals within, or affecting a conservation 
area should have regard to the guidance provided by the relevant Conservation Area 
Management Plan Supplementary Planning Document.   

 
 The Broadwater Crescent Conservation Area 
 
4.2.2 The enforcement site is located within the Broadwater Crescent Conservation Area as 

defined by the Local Plan (2019) policies map. The Conservation Area Management Plan 
SPD (2012) that the area is defined by low-density, two-storey dwellings with a three-storey 
neighbourhood which was delivered as part of Stevenage New Town. The Broadwater 
Area, in which the enforcement site forms part of, is a good example of Mark 1 New Town 
Neighbourhood which comprises of early Stevenage Development Corporation Architecture 
in the form of housing, garaging, a church, retail units and a community centre.  

 
4.2.3 Given the above, the Conservation Management Plan seeks to protect the 1950's style 

architecture where unsympathetic alterations detract from the key features of the 
Conservation Area. Therefore, alterations or extensions should not dominate an existing 
building's scale or alter the composition of its main elevations.  

 
 
 
 

Page 20



- 3 

 
 
 

 
 Policy background – Design and visual impact 
 
4.2.4 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality, beautiful and 

sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve”. It goes on to state that “good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities”. 

 
4.2.5 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF sets out a number of requirements for new development, 

including that development: 
 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of an area; 

 is visually attractive as a result of good architecture; layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping; 

 is sympathetic to local character and history; 

 establishes or maintains a strong sense of place; 

 optimises the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount 
and mix of development; 

 creates places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

 
4.2.6 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF places great importance on the role of trees in helping to shape 

quality, well designed places “Trees make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change”. 

 
4.2.7 Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that applicants “should work closely with those affected 

by their proposals to evolve designs that take into account of the views of the community. 
Applications that can demonstrate early, proactive and effective engagement with the 
community should be looked on more favourably than those that cannot”. 

 
4.2.8 Policy SP8 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires new development to achieve the 

highest standards of design and sustainability which can deliver substantial improvements 
to the image and quality of the town’s built fabric. Policy GD1 of the Local Plan generally 
requires all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of 
built development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape design 
and relevant aspects of sustainable design.  

 
4.2.9 Chapter 6 of the Council’s Design Guide SPD (2009) states that it is important for all 

extensions to respect the size, height, materials, features and layout of the building 
concerned, as well as surrounding buildings. It goes onto to state that extensions should as 
part as possible, look like a part of the main building rather than an obvious addition to it. 
Section 6.1 of the Guide sets out that for all types of extensions, the Council will assess the 
impact upon: 

 
- The appearance of the existing property; 
- The amenity of neighbours; 
- The character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

 
Assessment of the existing works 

 
4.2.10 It was reported to the Council a further outbuilding / structure had been constructed within 

the rear garden area of the enforcement property. Following officer’s investigation and a 

Page 21



- 3 

 
 
 

review of the planning / enforcement history, it was noted that an investigation was 
undertaken in 2010 under reference 10/00198/ENF (see paragraph 1.4). It was noted on 
this file that the use of the land including the original outbuilding (See photograph below for 
reference) were exempt from enforcement action. Therefore, this existing structure and the 
use of the land for storage of materials etc. is deemed to be exempt from enforcement 
action.  

 

 
Figure 2: Photograph of existing outbuilding from enforcement file 10/00198/ENF. 

 
4.2.11 However, upon visiting the site, officers had noted that a further structure had been erected 

within the rear garden area of 134 Marymead Road (see Figure 3 below for reference) as 
per the enforcement report which was raised.  

  

 
Figure 3: Photograph of recent constructed structure within rear garden  

 
4.2.12 Having reviewed the planning history file for this property, there are no records of this 

recently constructed light framed structure being granted any form of permission from the 
Council as Local Planning Authority. Moreover, the structure itself appears to be located 
within 2m of the boundary of the site and over 2.5m which combined with a number of other 
structures within the curtilage of the dwelling, would cover more than 50% of the curtilage of 
the dwellinghouse which is covered by buildings, enclosure and containers. 

 
4.2.13 Given the aforementioned, the existing structure would not be classed as permitted 

development in accordance with Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) (Order) 2015 (As amended). As 
such, the structure would appear to require planning permission. Consequently, it is evident 
a breach in planning control has occurred in this instance.  

Page 22



- 3 

 
 
 

 
4.2.14 Turning to the front extension / porch which has been constructed (See figure 4), it is 

appreciated that a small porch can be constructed under permitted development in line with 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class D of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended). However, in order for a porch to be 
classed as permitted development it must meet the following criteria: 

 

 the ground area (measured externally) of the structure does not exceed 3 square 
metres; 

 any part of the structure should not be more than 3 metres above ground level or;  

 any part of the structure if located within 2 metres of any boundary of the curtilage of the 
dwellinghouse with a highway would not be permitted development.  

 
4.2.15 Based on the above, it appears the extension / porch is larger than 3 square metres and it 

does appear to be within 2 metres of the boundary of the house and a highway. Therefore, 
this structure would not be classed as permitted development and requires planning 
permission from the Council.  

 
 

 
 

 Figure 4: Existing front extension / porch which has been constructed at 134 Marymead 
Drive.  

 
4.2.16 As it can be demonstrated that the existing structure and front extension / porch require 

planning permission and that it is evidence that a clear breach of planning control has taken 
place, an assessment needs to be made as to whether or not it is expedient to take 
enforcement action against these unauthorised works.  

 
4.2.17 Given the enforcement property is located within the Broadwater Conservation Area, an 

assessment needs to be made as to whether or not the works cause harm to the overall 
historic character of the Conservation Area. Dealing firstly with the front extension, it is 
constructed from unsympathetic and incongruous materials and is of a poor design which 
does not reflect the architectural characteristics of the host property. Furthermore, it is an 
incongruous form of development within the Conservation Area and the wider street scene. 
Therefore, it is considered to be an unacceptable addition to the enforcement property, 
contrary to the Broadwater Conservation Area Management Plan SPD (2012) nor Chapter 
6 of the Design Guide SPD (2009).  

Page 23



- 3 

 
 
 

4.2.18 Turning to the structure in the rear garden, this is deemed to be an incongruous form of 
development which also fails to respect the historic character of the Conservation Area. In 
addition, this structure, along with a number of other structures / outbuildings which have 
been constructed within the rear garden area over the years, cumulatively have a 
detrimental impact to the historic character of the conservation area.  

 
4.2.19 Taking the aforementioned into consideration and as advised by the Council’s Conservation 

and Heritage Advisor, both the front extension and structure in the rear garden neither 
preserve or enhance the historic character of the Broadwater Conservation Area. It is 
therefore, deemed that the extensions and existing structure cause a level of harm which is 
at the higher end of the scale of Less than Substantial Harm. As the development works 
which have taken place are deemed to have no public benefit which would outweigh the 
harm which has been caused, it considered that the development as whole fails to accord 
with paragraphs 199 to 202 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021. 
Moreover, it does not accord with policies SP13 and NH10 of the adopted Local Plan 
(2019) and the Broadwater Conservation Area Management Plan SPD (2012). 

 
4.2.20 Further to the above, given the development works are unsympathetic and incongruous 

forms of development, they also have a detrimental impact on the character and 
appearance of the dwellinghouse and the visual amenity of the wider street scene of 
Marymead Drive and Broadwater Crescent. As such, the development works as 
constructed do not accord with paragraph 126 of the NPPF (2021) and associated PPG, 
policies SP8 and GD1 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) and the Council’s Design Guide 
SPD (2009).  

 

5.      RECOMMENDATION  
 
5.1 That an Enforcement Notice be issued and served by the Assistant Director of Planning 

and Regulation and subject to an appointed solicitor by the Council being satisfied as to the 
evidence requiring the removal of the existing structure in the rear garden and the front 
extension. The precise terms of the Enforcement Notice, including all time periods, to be 
delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation. 

 
5.2 That, subject to an appointed solicitor by the Council being satisfied as to the evidence, the 

Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation be authorised to take all steps necessary, 
including prosecution or any other litigation/works in default to secure compliance with the 
Enforcement Notice. 

 
5.3 That in the event of any appeal against the Enforcement Notice, the Assistant Director of 

Planning and Regulation be authorised to take any action required to defend the 
Enforcement Notice and any appeal against the refusal of planning permission. 

 

6. REMEDY REQUIRED 
 
6.1 Within six months of the date of any Enforcement Notice served, the entirety of the 

structure as built in the rear garden area with the land made good and the front extension to 
also be removed in its entirety with the elevation of the dwellinghouse the extension is 
attached to  made good following its removal.   

 

7. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1.  The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents associated with reference. 
 

Page 24



- 3 

 
 
 

2.  Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (2020)  
 
3.  Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Stevenage Design 

Guide 2009. 
 
4.   Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 26 May 2022  
Author: Thomas Frankland-Wells  
Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad   
Contact Officer: Thomas Frankland-Wells   
 
 
Application No: 21/01366/FPM 

Location: Stamford House, Primett Road, Stevenage 

Proposal: Extension to roof, with alterations to openings and materials, to facilitate 
conversion of existing office building to 11 residential apartments. 

Drawing Nos.: 2132- 001; 2132- 002; 2132- 003; 2132- 004B; 2132- 005B; 2132- 006B; 
2132- 007B; 

Applicant: Mr Howell 

Date Valid: 29 December 2021 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 

 
 

 
Plan for information purposes only 

 
  

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



- 2 - 

1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 

1.1 The site is an irregularly-shaped plot of land extending to approximately 700m2 and located 
between Primett Road and the High Street. A three storey building takes up the majority of 
the site, with undercroft parking at ground floor level and two floors of offices above. 

 
1.2 The site is located within the Old Town High Street Conservation Area and Area of 

Archaeological Significance but is otherwise not covered by any relevant Local Plan 
designations. In terms of environmental constraints, it is located in Flood Zone 1 (lowest 
risk). 

 
1.3 Land uses surrounding the site are mixed, with a combination of offices and flats fronting 

Primett Road and array of typical town centre uses fronting the High Street to the east.  
    

2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
2.1 2/0330/96 - Three storey office extension and car parking. 
 
2.2 12/00566/FP - Creation of ground floor shower room and second floor balcony, with 

additional rooflights. 
 
2.3 17/00776/FP - Ground floor extension, replacement of first floor balcony, covering of external 

fire escape stairs, installation of 1 no. roof light and internal alterations. 
 
2.4 20/00519/CPA - Prior approval for change of use from offices (Use Class B1) to 8no. 

residential flats (Use Class C3) 
 
2.5 21/00548/CPA - Conversion of existing office building into 8no residential flats 
 

3.0 THE CURRENT APPLICATION  
 
3.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the extension and alteration of the building 

to facilitate a change of use from offices to 11no. flats. 
 
3.2 The extensions and alterations would involve:  
 

 the removal of the existing blue louvered façade and its replacement with a more 
traditional material palette comprising red brick and black timber weatherboard; 

 a 900mm upward extension across the entirety of the footprint of the building; 

 the erection of an overhanging gabled forward projection, measuring 5.3m x 0.7m x 
8.9m (w x d x h); 

 the erection of three flat-roofed front dormers, each measuring 3.2m x 1.3m x 2.3m (w 
x d x h);  

 an extension to the existing stair core, measuring 5.4m x 11.2m (w x d), to provide for 
bin and cycle stores; and, 

 the replacement of an area of hardstanding in the east of the site within a communal 
amenity area measuring 50m2.   

 
3.2 Below is a schedule of the proposed accommodation. 

  

Unit Floor Occupancy Internal Area External Area 

1 1 2b / 3p 80 m2 - 

2 1 3b / 4p 100 m2 - 

3 1 2b / 4p 70 m2 - 

4 1 2b / 3p 68 m2 - 

5 2 2b / 3p 80 m2 - 

Page 28



- 3 - 

6 2 3b / 4p 100 m2 - 

7 2 2b / 4p 70 m2 - 

8 2 2b / 3p 68 m2 - 

9 3 1b / 2p 64 m2 6 m2 

10 3 2b / 4p 73 m2 18 m2 

11 3 3b / 5p 98 m2 - 

Communal Garden - - 54 m2 

 
3.3 This application comes before the Planning and Development Committee because it is a 

major residential scheme.  
 

4.0 PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  
 
4.1 The application has been publicised by neighbour letters, the posting of site notices, and an 

advertisement in the local newspaper.  
 
4.2 One letter of objection was received, which reads as follows: 
 
4.2.1 I've reviewed the planning application documents with regards to the proposed roof 

extension, and addition of residential flats of Stamford House, Primett Road.  
 
4.2.2 I have serious concerns about the impact of the lost of our privacy.  Comparing to the 

previous planning application of 21/00548/CPA of just 8 flats, there are now more windows 
on the Right Side elevation (was only 5 as per existing office layout, now 12) from which the 
potential Stamford house residents could view towards our house.  In addition, all windows 
are proposed to be "Angled" flank window facing in the same direction, this would jeopardise 
our privacy even further, as Stamford House residents would tend to look out in that direction 
only. We would have to have the curtains closed all day in our master bedroom on the 2nd 
floor, living room on the 1st floor, and kitchen on the ground floor, this significantly reduces 
natural light source entering into our house, and is detrimental to our health. 

 
4.2.3 In the 21_01366_FPM-PLANNING_DESIGN_AND_ACCESS_STATEMENT_1_-669057.pdf, 

section 8.2 page 18, I strongly disagree the statement that privacy is retained for all 
neighbouring occupier.  In fact, there is no consideration at all for the privacy of houses No. 
21 to 24 of Howarde Court.  In Figure 18, photo showing a view toward Apartment No 15 to 
20 only, and no photos have been taken towards our house.  I have attached a photo (Copy 
of the photograph can be viewed with full details of the objection on the Council’s website) 
from our 2nd floor, a view toward the right side elevation of Stamford House, you can clearly 
see that any additional windows and flats of Stamford House would have significant impact to 
our privacy.   

 
4.2.4 Please also see the aerial view attached (Copy of the aerial view can be viewed as part of 

the objection on the Council’s website), I would like to point out that the distance from our 
house, and the distance from No15 -20 to the Stamford House's right side elevation is the 
same, how can this report completely ignore ours !!! 

 
4.2.5 Should the planning be approved, I seek compensation to the lost of our privacy, and 

reduction of natural light source as mentioned above. 
 
4.2.6 Following amendments to the proposed design, the application was again publicised by 

neighbour letters. Any representations received in response to this later round of consultation 
will be published as an update and reported verbally to the Committee. 

 

5.0  CONSULTATIONS 
 

5.1 UK Power Networks  

Page 29



- 4 - 

 
5.1.1 We refer to the planning application for the above site. The proposed development is in close 

proximity to our substation, and we have the following observations: 
 
5.1.2 If the proposed works are located within 6m of the substation, then they are notifiable under 

the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. The applicant should provide details of the proposed works and 
liaise with the company to ensure that appropriate protective measures and mitigation 
solutions are agreed in accordance with the Act. The applicant would need to be responsible 
for any costs associated with any appropriate measures required. Any party wall notice 
should be served on UK Power Networks at its registered office: UK Power Networks, 
Newington House, 237 Southwark Bridge Road, London SE1 6NP. 

 
5.1.3 Our engineering guidelines state that the distance between a dwelling of two or more stories 

with living or bedroom windows overlooking a distribution substation should be a minimum of 
ten metres if the transformer is outdoor, seven metres if the transformer has a GRP 
surrounding or one metre if the transformer is enclosed in a brick building. It is a recognised 
fact that transformers emit a low level hum which can cause annoyance to nearby properties. 
This noise is mainly airborne in origin and is more noticeable during the summer months 
when people tend to spend more time in their gardens and sleep with open windows. 

 
5.1.4 A problem can also occur when footings of building are too close to substation structures. 

Vibration from the transformer can be transmitted through the ground and into the walls of 
the adjacent buildings. This, you can imagine can be very annoying. 

 
5.2 Thames Water 
 
5.2.1 Thames Water have no comments to make at this time in regards to the above planning 

application. 
 

5.3 Affinity Water 
 
5.3.1 No response received. Any comments received will be published as an update and reported 

verbally to the Committee. 
 
5.4 Herts Fire and Rescue Water Officer 
 
5.4.1 We have no comment to make, as there is an existing hydrant within 90m of the entrance of 

this building so no further requirement for any additional hydrants. 
 
5.5 Hertfordshire Constabulary Crime Prevention Design Service 

 
5.5.1 Thank you for inviting me to comment on this planning application. I have studied the 

documents on the Councils planning website and have the following comments to make; 
 
5.5.2 I am disappointed that the applicant appears to have forgotten to describe how they intend to 

deal with the issues of crime, disorder, and the fear of crime as per both the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Stevenage Local Plan. With regards to the 
NPPF there is no mention of Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities whatsoever 
in the Design and Access Statement (DAS). Although the applicant mentions several of the 
policies from the Local Plan SP2 Sustainable Development in Stevenage and IT5 Parking 
and Access, again there is no mention of dealing with the issues of crime etc. Having 
checked on the website www.police.uk for the crime figures for the period January to 
December 2021, using the area of Primett Road and Games Yard bounded by the High 
Street and the A602, there were 106 recorded crime reports of these 53 were recorded as 
Antisocial Behaviour (ASB) and there were two vehicle crimes and one theft of a cycle. The 
rest were a mixture of assaults and criminal damage. 

 

Page 30



- 5 - 

5.5.3 I have substantive concerns regarding the proposed cycle storage provision. Local Policy IT5 
Parking and Access states at item 7 Secure Cycle Storage in contrast the DAS cites s11.3 A 
cycle store for at least 12 cycles is proposed adjacent to the refuse store for occupiers and 
visitors to the development. The plans show the store having double doors fitted and that 
these are behind the entrance, which consists of electric gates and a pedestrian access. 
However, this does not demonstrate how these are to be secured. Therefore, I cant see how 
these fit into the Secure Cycle Storage as per the requirements of Policy IT5 there is 
insufficient detail, and the applicant expects the reader to assume that these would be 
secured. 

 
5.5.4 I have substantive concerns about the claims that this application is a sustainable 

development as there are no mentions of any provisions for charging both electric vehicles 
and cycles etc. this is a growth area, which the Government are committed to under Climate 
Change. There is also new building regulation issued regarding charging points. 

 
5.5.5 Given the concerns raised above these could all be mitigated by the applicant contacting the 

Police Crime Prevention Design Service with a view to seeking to achieve the Police 
preferred minimum security standard that is Secured by Design (SBD). Not only is this 
proven to reduce crime and disorder but also research done by Professor Ken Pease in 2009 
has shown that by achieving SBD accreditation the carbon footprint of the scheme will be 
reduced. 

 
5.5.6 The Police Crime Prevention Design Service are not able to fully support this application at 

present. However, if the applicant were to contact us with a view to seeking to achieve SBD 
accreditation, then this position would change. I would therefore ask that, should this be 
granted permission, an Informative added to the condition to the effect of;  

 
5.5.7 Prior to construction the applicant will contact the Hertfordshire Constabulary CPDS with a 

view to seeking to achieve accreditation to the Police preferred minimum security standard 
that is Secured by Design. 

 
5.5.8 Reason: To ensure that the development is compliant with both National and Local Planning 

Policies, in addition, this will also demonstrate the discharge of obligations under Approved 
Document Q Security of Building Regulations. 

 
5.6 HCC Highways 

 
5.6.1 Proposal 
 
5.6.1.1 AMENDED PROPOSAL 

Extension to roof, with alterations to openings and materials, to facilitate conversion of 
existing office building to 11 residential apartments as amplified by drawings received on 
11th April 2022 

 
5.6.2 Decision 
 
5.6.2.1 Notice is given under article 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that the Hertfordshire County Council as 
Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to the following 
condition 

 
5.6.2.2 No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan. The 
Construction Management Plan and shall include details of: 

 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing from the A1(M); 

Page 31



- 6 - 

b. Access arrangements to the site; 
c. Traffic management requirements 
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 
loading/unloading and turning areas); 
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and to 
avoid school pick up/drop off times; 
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction activities; 
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary access to 
the public highway; 
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted 
showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, pedestrian routes and 
remaining road width for vehicle movements. 
 

5.6.2.3 Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s 
Local Transport Plan 

 
5.6.3 Vehicle Access 
 
5.6.3.1 The site is located along Primett Road that is designated as a local access road that is 

subject to a speed limit restricted to 30 mph. 
 
5.6.4 Highway Impact 
 
5.6.4.1 The scale of residential development on transport and highway impact would lead to a similar 

number of vehicular trips than the present use. The traffic generation from the development 
would not alter significantly considering the sustainability of the site being located within the 
old town that has transport hubs which would not have a detrimental impact on highway 
safety. 

 
5.6.5 Parking Information 
 
5.6.5.1 The proposal is to provide 11 flats the existing vehicle parking is to be retained and further 12 

spaces for cycle parking provision with ancillary storage for bins. 
 
5.6.6 CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC 
 
5.6.6.1 Concerns by HCC over the impact of the construction traffic travelling to the site have 

resulted in a planning condition being recommended to prepare a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan. 

 
5.6.7 POLICY REVIEW ; NATIONAL AND LOCAL POLICIES: 
 
5.6.7.1 The applicant has provided evidence of consideration of the following policy documents in 

their Transport Assessment [TA]: 
 
5.6.7.2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); 
 
5.6.7.3 The government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advocates that the planning 

policies and decisions should consider whether: 
 

 “the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure; 

 safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; 

Page 32



- 7 - 

 Improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 
the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development 
are severe.” 

 Similarly, the County’s Local Transport Plan’s (LTP4) prime focus is to tackle 
congestion, providing safe and accessible transportation routes. It also establishes that 
it is essential to integrate land use and transport to create a sustainable community that 
can be fully utilised without the need of vehicular transport. 

 
5.6.7.4 Local 
 
5.6.7.5 Stevenage Draft Local Plan, 2016 (2011 – 2031) 
 
5.6.7.6 Stevenage Strategic Transport Strategy (2031) 
 
5.6.7.7 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 
 
5.6.7.8 National Planning Practice Guidance: Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements 

in Decision Taking; 
 
5.6.7.9 Hertfordshire County Council’s (HCC) ‘Local Transport Plan 4 2018 – 2031; 
 
5.6.7.10 HCC Active Travel Strategy (2013) 
 
5.6.7.11 HCC Rail Strategy (2016) 
 
5.6.7.12 HCC Bus and Intalink Strategy (2011) 
 
5.6.7.13 The policy review is considered appropriate for the purposes of this planning application. 
 
5.6.8 Conclusion 
 
5.6.8.1 Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority considers that the amended plans in 

reference to the development is unlikely to result in a material increase or change in 
character of traffic in the vicinity of the site and therefore has no objection to this change of 
use, subject to the above planning condition. 

 
5.7 HCC Growth and Infrastructure 
 
5.7.1 Hertfordshire County Council’s Growth & Infrastructure Unit do not have any comments to 

make in relation to financial contributions required by the Toolkit, as this development is 
situated within your CIL zone and does not fall within any of the CIL Reg123 exclusions. 
Notwithstanding this, we reserve the right to seek Community Infrastructure Levy 
contributions towards the provision of infrastructure as outlined in your R123 List through the 
appropriate channels. 

 
5.7.2 We therefore have no further comment on behalf of these services, although you may be 

contacted separately from our Highways Department. 
 
5.8 HCC Waste and Minerals Unit 

 
5.8.1 No response received. Any comments received will be published as an update and reported 

verbally to the Committee. 
 

5.9 SBC Environmental Health 
 

5.9.1 Noise 

Page 33



- 8 - 

 
5.9.1.1 I have reviewed the submitted “Stamford House, Primett Road, Planning Noise Assessment”, 

Report Reference RK3174/20439/Rev 1, Dated 10/12/2021, by Spectrum Acoustic 
Consultants.  Appropriate noise monitoring has been undertaken (identifying traffic noise and 
mechanical noise from restaurants and take aways) and design criteria selected. Noise 
mitigation measures were found to be required. 

 
5.9.1.2 Mechanical ventilation is proposed.  Section 5.2 of the Report identifies mitigation in the form 

of enhanced glazing to Flat 10 (due to the large glazed area); elsewhere standard glazing.  I 
recommend a Condition below:- 

 
5.9.2 Recommendation 
 
5.9.2.1 Prior to the first occupation of the development, the noise mitigation measures detailed in 

Section 5.2 of “Stamford House, Primett Road, Planning Noise Assessment” Report 
Reference RK3174/20439/Rev1, Dated 10/12/2021 by Spectrum Acoustic Consultants shall 
be implemented.  The measures shall be maintained thereafter. 

 
5.9.2.2 Reason: To protect the residential amenity of future residents  

 
5.10 Wood Group UK (Flood Risk and Drainage Consultant) 
 
5.10.1 No response received. Any comments received will be published as an update and reported 

verbally to the Committee. 
 
5.11 BEAMS (Heritage Consultant) 
 
5.11.1 Stamford House is a late 20th century office building fronting Primett Road, it has a distinctive 

blue glazed louvered façade, with brickwork to the rear and side elevations. 
 
5.11.2 The application site lies within the Stevenage Old Town Conservation Area – an area of 

special architectural or historic interest, the character and appearance of which it is desirable 
to preserve or enhance. The conservation area includes buildings fronting the historic High 
Street and plots to the rear, many of which have been part redeveloped in the mid to late 20th 
century with new buildings fronting Primett Road. 

 
5.11.3 Stamford House sits reasonably unobtrusively between the buildings either side which are of 

brick construction and the eaves / ridge height / roof pitch along this stretch of Primett Road 
is fairly consistent. 

 
5.11.4 The proposed elevations have been amended. The elevation facing Primett Road has a 

contemporary design with brickwork / dark framed glazed openings and an overhanging 
gabled element. Three box dormers are introduced into the roof, and although large, they are 
set back behind a brick parapet and the pitched roof form can still be discerned. 

 
5.11.5 The amended scheme relates better to the buildings either side and will preserve the 

character and appearance of the Stevenage Old Town Conservation Area in accordance with 
national and local plan policy, no objection. 

 
5.12 NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG 
 
5.12.1 There is not and will not be any application for S106 or CIL in relation to health/this 

application. That means nothing for Primary Care/GP, Community Health, Mental Health or 
Acute. 

 

6.  RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  
 

Page 34



- 9 - 

6.1 Background to the Development Plan 

 

6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the decision 
on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory development plan 
comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 2019) 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
6.2 Central Government Advice 

 
6.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in 
conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered up to date 
for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that proposals 
which accord with an up to date development plan should be approved without delay 
(para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date development 
plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which 
should be given to an up to date development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 
38(6) of the 2004 Act.   

 
6.2.2     Since November 2018, housing delivery has been measured against the Housing Delivery 

Test (HDT) as set out by the Government planning policy and guidance. The results of the 
HDT dictate whether a local planning authority should be subject to consequences to help 
increase their housing delivery. Where an authority’s HDT score is less than 85% of its 
housing requirement, the Council must incorporate a 20% buffer into its housing supply 
calculations in line with paragraph 73 of the NPPF. Where an authority’s score is below 75%, 
the Council will be subject to the HDT’s most severe penalty and must apply the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development. The latest HDT results, published by the Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (now the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities) in January 2022, identifies that Stevenage delivered 79% of 
its housing requirement in 2021. This is above the 75% target, but still less than 85%. 
Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council must include the 20% buffer in its 5 year housing 
land supply calculations, which it already does.  

 
6.2.3     The Council also has to prepare an Action Plan to show how it is responding to the challenge 

of ensuring more homes are delivered in the Borough. It will have to be prepared in 
accordance with Planning Practice Guidance and analyse the reasons for under-delivery of 
new homes against the Government’s requirements. It also has to set out clear actions on 
how to improve housing delivery. Consequently, Stevenage Borough Council is considering 
its position in relation to preparing an action plan to enhance housing supply on deliverable 
sites.  

 
6.2.4     In terms of 5 year land supply, the Council recently published the Five Year Land Supply 

Update (May 2022) which reveals that Stevenage has a 5.91 year supply of housing. A copy 
of the statement is found on:  
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/five-year-housing-land-
supply-update-may-2022.pdf 

 
6.2.5    The Council will also be commencing preliminary work into a potential review of its Local 

Plan, last adopted in May 2019.  This is to ensure the polices within the Local Plan are up to 
date in accordance with the NPPF as well as ensuing the Council is delivering a sufficient 
supply of housing and employment.  

Page 35

https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/five-year-housing-land-supply-update-may-2022.pdf
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/monitoring/five-year-housing-land-supply-update-may-2022.pdf


- 10 - 

 
6.3 Planning Practice Guidance 
 
6.3.1 The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 

familiar. The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2021) which has the same status as the PPG. 

 
6.4 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 

 
 SP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
 SP2 Sustainable Development in Stevenage   

SP5 Infrastructure 
 SP6 Sustainable Transport 

SP7 High Quality Homes 
SP8 Good Design 
SP9 Healthy Communities 

 SP11 Climate Change, Flooding and Pollution 
 SP12 Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment 
 SP13 The Historic Environment 
 EC7 Employment Development on Unallocated Sites 
 IT4 Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 
 IT5 Parking and Access 
 IT6 Sustainable Transport 
 HO5 Windfall Sites 
 HO7 Affordable Housing Targets 
 HO9 Housing Types and Sizes 
 HO11 Accessible and Adaptable Housing 
 GD1 High Quality Design 
 FP1 Climate Change 
 FP2 Flood Risk in Flood Zone 1 
 FP5 Contaminated Land 
 FP7 Pollution 
 FP8 Pollution Sensitive Uses 

NH9 Areas of Archaeological Significance 
NH10 Conservation Areas 

 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
 Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD (2020) 
 Developer Contributions SPD (2021) 
 The impact of Development on Biodiversity SPD (2020) 
 Old Town High Street Conservation Area Management Plan (2012)  
 Design Guide SPD (2009) 
 
6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule in 

2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects based on the 
type, location and floor space of a development. The proposal would be liable for CIL, 
charged at a rate of £100/m2. 

 

7 APPRAISAL  
 
7.1.1 The main issues for consideration in this case are: its acceptability in land use policy terms; 

affordable housing; the mix of dwelling sizes; the standard of the proposed accommodation; 
the impact on heritage assets; design and other visual considerations; the impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring landowners; and the impact on highway safety and parking. 

Page 36



- 11 - 

 
7.1.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
7.2 Land Use Policy Considerations 
 
 Assessment against the Council’s housing policies 
 
7.2.1 The application proposes housing, which would be provided at the expense of existing office 

space, on a site not allocated in the Local Plan for any specific purpose. Given that the site is 
accessible and the building on it is of a relatively modern construction, the quality of the 
office space it provides is assumed to be good. The building is however understood to have 
been vacant for some time, following the departure of DocCentics (a software company 
specialising in digital communications) to other premises within Stevenage. 

 
7.2.2 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF 2021 states that planning decisions should promote an effective 

use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving 
the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. Paragraph 120 goes on to 
say that they should promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply 
is constrained and available sites could be used more effectively. 

 
7.2.3 Paragraph 123 states that local planning authorities should also take a positive approach to 

applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not allocated for a 
specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified development needs. In 
particular, they should support proposals to use retail and employment land for homes in 
areas of high housing demand, provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or 
sites or the vitality and viability of town centres, and would be compatible with other policies 
in the Framework. 

 
7.2.4 Policy SP7 of the Local Plan 2019 sets out the strategic objective of providing at least 7,600 

new homes within Stevenage Borough between 2011 and 2031. Some of these homes are 
expected to be delivered on windfall sites i.e. sites that are not specifically allocated for 
housing within the Plan.  

 
7.2.5 Policy HO5 sets out the criteria for housing development on such sites. It states that planning 

permission will be granted where: 
 

a) The site is on previously developed land or is a small, underused urban site; 
b) There is good access to local facilities; 
c) There will be no detrimental impact on the environment and the surrounding properties; 
d) Proposals will not prejudice our ability to deliver residential development on allocated 

sites; and, 
e) The proposed development would not overburden existing infrastructure. 

 
7.2.6 With the above in mind, it can be said that the site is on previously developed land as defined 

in Annex 2 to the NPPF. It also benefits from good access to local facilities, being in close 
proximity to the High Street, which is the historic economic centre of Stevenage. The 
proposal would not prejudice the delivery of residential development on allocated sites, given 
the scale of the proposal and the fact that there are no allocated housing sites in the 
immediate vicinity. It would also not overburden existing infrastructure, given that it would be 
CIL liable and the purpose of the CIL payment is to mitigate infrastructure impacts1.  

 

                                                
1 NHS East and North Herts CCG and HCC Growth and Infrastructure have confirmed that the development 
would not impact healthcare or education infrastructure to the extent that developer contributions are required. 

Page 37



- 12 - 

7.2.7 Consideration of the impact on the environment and surrounding properties is slightly more 
complex, since surrounding properties would be impacted by the development. However, 
these impacts arise from the design of the development rather than being an inevitable 
consequence of the use of the land for residential purposes. Indeed the use of land 
surrounding the site is mixed, including a significant proportion of existing housing. 
Therefore, strictly from a land use perspective, it is considered that developing the site for 
housing would not have a detrimental impact on the environment or surrounding properties. 
The specific impacts on surrounding properties that arise from the design of the development 
are considered later in this report.   

 
7.2.8 Having regard to the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy HO5 of the 

Local Plan 2019, insofar as it relates to the use of land for housing. It is also considered to 
accord with Policy SP7 because it would contribute to meeting the housing targets set by the 
policy. 

 
7.2.9 Policy HO9 of the Local Plan 2019 states that Planning permission for residential schemes 

will be granted where: 
 

a. An appropriate range of market and affordable housing types and sizes are provided 
taking into account: 

 
i. Structural imbalances in the existing housing stock; 
ii. The housing needs of the Borough, as informed by up-to-date and relevant 

evidence; 
iii. The location and accessibility of the application site; and 
iv. Recent completions, existing permissions and sites in the five-year land supply; 

 
b. The resultant scheme would provide a density and character of development 

appropriate to its location and surroundings. Significantly higher densities should be 
achieved in easily accessible locations; and 

c. Aspirational homes are provided in appropriate locations including, but not necessarily 
limited to: 

 
i. New neighbourhoods to the north, west and south-east of the town; 
ii. Suitable suburban, edge-of-town sites; 
iii. The town centre, Old Town and other highly accessible locations; and 
iv. Other appropriate sites where aspirational homes would complement the 

prevailing character 
 

7.2.10 The proposed development would provide a single one-bed unit, seven two-bedroom units, 
and three three-bed units. This is considered to be an appropriate range of sizes given the 
existing imbalance in the Borough’s housing stock, which is weighted heavily towards 
dwellings with three or more bedrooms. It is also considered to be well-suited to the form and 
location of the development i.e. a flatted development on the periphery of the Old Town High 
Street Shopping Area.  

 
7.2.11 Likewise, the density and character of the development is considered to be appropriate to the 

site’s surroundings, which contains a number of other medium density housing 
developments, both flatted and otherwise. The site is considered to be relatively accessible 
and therefore able to sustain this type of development.  

 
7.2.12 Having regard to the above, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy HO9 of the 

Local Plan 2019, which requires residential developments to provide a range of housing 
types and sizes to meet the Borough’s needs. 

 
 Loss of employment 
 

Page 38



- 13 - 

7.2.13 Turning away from the provision of housing and on to the loss of office space that it would 
entail, Policy EC7 of the Local Plan 2019 seeks to limit the change of use of unallocated 
employment land. It states that planning permission for the loss of employment land on sites 
not allocated for any specific purpose will be granted where: 

 
i. There is sufficient suitable employment land available elsewhere; 
ii. The proposals provide overriding benefits against other objectives or policies in the 

plan; or, 
iii. It can be demonstrated that a unit has been unsuccessfully marketed for its existing 

use, or has remained vacant, over a considerable period of time. 
  

7.2.14 The proposal is not considered to meet any of the above criteria. While it is understood that 
the unit has been vacant for some time and has been unsuccessfully marketed for office use, 
the applicant has not put forward satisfactory evidence to demonstrate compliance with 
Policy EC7. And, while the development would provide benefits in terms of the delivery of 
housing, these cannot be said to be overriding benefits, especially since the most up-to-date 
evidence suggests adequate supply of land for housing within the Borough. 

 
7.2.15 Having regard to the above, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Policy EC7 of the 

Local Plan 2019, which generally seeks to protect unallocated employment sites.  
 
7.2.16 However, the planning history is a material consideration and it is noted that the site benefits 

from prior approval for the change of use of the building to eight flats (application reference 
21/00548/CPA). This approval is extant and is considered to be a realistic fallback position 
for the applicant. It is therefore highly material to the current application, since it effectively 
means that the applicant already has permission for the loss of the office space and the 
introduction of housing as its replacement, albeit at a lower density than is now proposed and 
without requiring any extensions to the building. 

 
7.2.17 With this in mind, it would be manifestly unreasonable to object, in land use policy terms, to 

the loss of the office space on the site and its replacement with housing, despite the 
apparent conflict with Policy EC7. On this basis, the proposed development is considered to 
be acceptable in principle.  

 
7.3 Affordable Housing and Section 106 
 
7.3.1 Policy HO7 of the Local Plan 2019 seeks to maximise the provision of affordable housing in 

residential developments. It requires 25% of the total number of units to be provided as 
affordable units for schemes on previously developed land. 

 
7.3.2 The Policy goes on to state that where these targets are not met, planning permission will 

only be granted if: 
 

a. Developers robustly demonstrate that the target cannot be achieved due to site-specific 
constraints resulting in higher than normal costs, which affect its viability; or 

b. Meeting the requirements would demonstrably and significantly compromise other 
policy objectives. 

 
7.3.3 In this case, the proposed development would not provide any affordable housing. The 

developer has not demonstrated that the target cannot be achieved due to viability 
constraints, nor is it considered that meeting the requirements would significantly and 
demonstrably compromise other policy objectives. The proposal is therefore considered to be 
contrary to Policy HO7 of the Local Plan 2019. 

 
7.3.4 However, the planning history of the site is considered to be highly material to this issue, 

since there is an extant approval to deliver eight units on the site, none of which would be 
affordable. Given that the current proposal would result in only three additional units versus 

Page 39



- 14 - 

this extant approval and an application for three units would not ordinarily trigger a 
requirement for affordable housing, it is considered that it would be unreasonable to object to 
the current proposal on the basis of a lack of affordable housing. 

 
7.3.5 In terms of other obligations, no financial contributions towards education or healthcare are 

sought for the scheme. However, in accordance with the Developer Contributions SPD, an 
employment and apprenticeship strategy is sought, with the following terms: 

 

 to attempt to employ Stevenage residents in 5% to 10% of on-site construction jobs 
and to pay a one-off sum of £4,000 per job shortfall; and, 

 to attempt to employ one Stevenage resident or student as an apprentice for every ten 
on-site construction jobs (up to a maximum of ten apprenticeships) and to pay of one-
off sum of £2,250/£1,250 per placement. 

 
7.3.6 The applicant has agreed to these obligations and it is recommended that any resolution to 

grant planning permission be subject to the completion of this agreement. 
 

7.4 Standard of Accommodation 
 
7.4.1 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments 

create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-
being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. Accordingly, Policy GD1 
of the Local Plan requires new residential developments to meet the nationally described 
space standard and to provide for the amenities of future occupants. Policy FP8 of the Local 
Plan states that Planning permission for pollution sensitive uses will be granted where they 
will not be subjected to unacceptably high levels of pollution exposure from either existing, or 
proposed, pollution generating uses. 

 
7.4.2 Under the current proposal, flats 3, 4, 7 and 8 would not provide the amount of built-in 

storage space required by the standard. However, they would exceed the standard in terms 
of floor area and occupants would therefore have sufficient space to provide free-standing 
storage to meet their needs. In all other respects the proposed development would meet or 
exceed the standard. 

 
7.4.3 Beyond space standards, the proposed development is considered to be of a good quality in 

terms of the living conditions of future occupants. They would enjoy a reasonable degree of 
privacy due to the orientation of the building and positioning of the windows, noting that the 
medium density form of surrounding development does afford a degree of mutual 
overlooking between neighbours. In terms of natural light, the majority of the proposed units 
(eight out of eleven total) would be dual aspect and all would receive direct sunlight for a 
significant portion of the day.  

 
7.4.4 In terms of noise, the applicant has submitted an acoustic assessment that recognises a 

number of nearby noise sources, including traffic on the A602 and plant associated with the 
food outlets fronting the High Street. The report recommends a system of mechanical 
ventilation and improved performance glazing for flat 10 (due to the high ratio of glazing to 
room volume in this unit). These measures are considered to be acceptable, however they 
do not take into account the amended proposal, where flat 11 also features a high proportion 
of glazing. It is therefore recommended that an addendum to the acoustic assessment be 
secured by condition to ensure appropriate noise mitigation for this unit. The Council’s 
Environmental Health Department have no objections to the proposal, subject to the 
recommended conditions. 

 
7.4.5 Turning to outdoor amenity space, Chapter 5.2 of the Design Guide SPD states that all 

dwellings, including flats, should have private open space. The only exception to this is 
where flats are developed in very central locations, where public open space is easily 
accessible and higher densities are required. In flatted developments, where private open 

Page 40



- 15 - 

space is required, the Council will normally aim to achieve a minimum useable communal 
area of 50 square metres for schemes up to 5 units, plus an additional 10 square metres per 
additional unit over 5. 

 
7.4.6 Under the current proposal, flats 9 and 10 would benefit from roof terraces, measuring 6m2 

and 18m2 respectively, while the remaining flats would benefit from use of a communal 
garden measuring 50m2. Although this is lower than the ideal level of provision expressed in 
the SPD, it is considered to be appropriate given the relatively central location of the site and 
its physical constraints (with much of the site already covered by the existing building and 
undercroft parking). 

 
7.4.7 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would offer a 

good standard of accommodation, subject to the condition requiring appropriate noise 
mitigation for flat 11. In this respect, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy GD1 of 
the Local Plan 2019. 

 
7.5 Heritage Assets 
 
7.5.1 The site is located within the Old Town High Street Conservation Area. It does not contain 

any listed buildings, nor are there any within the immediate vicinity such that they would be 
likely to be affected by the proposal, although it is recognised that the wider Conservation 
Area does contain a number of listed buildings, those closest to the site being 132 High 
Street (Marquis of Lorne), 112 High Street (Sala Thong) and 123 High Street (Misya Meze 
and Grill). 

 
7.5.2 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 

amended) states that in exercising any functions under the Planning Acts with respect to 
buildings or other land in a conservation area, special attention should be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of that area. 

 
7.5.3 Paragraphs 199 to 201 of the NPPF 2021 set out national policy for considering potential 

impacts on heritage assets, stating that great weight should be given to the conservation of 
designated heritage assets, irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss, or less than substantial harm. Both the listed application property 
and the Old Town High Street Conservation Area are designated heritage assets. 

 
7.5.4 Paragraph 200 goes on to state that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 

heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
should require clear and convincing justification. 

 
7.5.5 Paragraph 202 states that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 

harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use. 

 
7.5.6 Policy NH10 of the Local Plan states that development proposals affecting a conservation 

area should have regard to the relevant conservation area management plan SPD. 
 
7.5.7 The significance of the Old Town High Street Conservation Area is as the economic centre of 

a settlement that grew around the Great North Road from the medieval period onwards. The 
presence of a significant number of listed buildings ensures that the zone around the 
application site maintains its historic character. 

 
7.5.8 Primett Road has a distinctly contemporary character and the existing building on the 

application site, although located within the conservation area, is likewise contemporary in its 
appearance. Its most distinctive feature is a blue louvered façade, behind which sits an 
otherwise fairly typical late 20th century low-rise office building.  

Page 41



- 16 - 

 
7.5.9 A full description of the proposed works is set out at paragraph 3.2 of this report. 
 
7.5.10 As noted above, the proposal would involve the removal of the blue louvres and their 

replacement with a more typical façade made up of red brick and black painted timber 
weatherboard, featuring an overhanging gabled front projection. These elements are 
considered to reflect and respond positively to the buildings to either side of the site. While 
box dormers are also proposed to the front elevation, these would be set back and therefore 
not as readily appreciable from street level as the other features.  

 
7.5.11 In terms of height, the existing building sits at approximately the same level as its immediate 

southern neighbour. This height would increase as part of the proposal but only to the point 
where it would match the height of the building immediately to the north. It is therefore 
considered that the proposed building would continue to sit comfortably amidst its neighbours 
on Primett Road. 

 
7.5.12 In terms of layout, the proposal would not result in any significant visual changes, since the 

only new built form would be contained within the existing building footprint.  
 
7.5.13 The Council’s heritage consultant has advised that following the amendments to the scheme, 

the development will preserve the character and appearance of the Old Town High Street 
Conservation Area, in accordance with national and local policy. On this basis, the consultant 
has no objection to the application. 

 
7.5.14 Having regard to the above, and noting that the building would not be readily appreciable in 

views from the High Street itself, it is considered that the proposed development would 
preserve the character and appearance of the Old Town High Street Conservation Area. It 
follows that the development would not result in any harm to the significance of this asset 
and in this respect, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy NH10 of the Local Plan 
2019. 

 
7.6 Design and Other Visual Considerations 

 
7.6.1 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF 2021 stipulates that planning decisions should ensure 

development functions well and adds to the overall quality of the area, not just in the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development. It also sets out that development should be 
visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping, is sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting.  

 
7.6.2 Paragraph 134 goes on to say that development that is not well designed should be refused, 

especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design, 
taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents such 
as design guides and codes. Conversely, significant weight should be given to: 

 

 development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on design, 
taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents 
such as design guides and codes; and/or 

 outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help 
raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the 
overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

 
7.6.3 Policy SP8 of the Local Plan requires new development to achieve the highest standards of 

design and sustainability. Policy GD1 generally requires all forms of development to meet a 
high standard of design which includes form of built development, elevational treatment and 
materials along with how the development would integrate with the urban fabric, its 
relationship between buildings, landscape design and relevant aspects of sustainable design. 

Page 42



- 17 - 

 
7.6.4 The National Design Guide (2019) which was published by National Government is a 

material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It sets out that Buildings 
are an important component of places and proposals for built development are a focus of the 
development management system. However, good design involves careful attention to other 
important components of places. These include: 

 

 the context for places and buildings; 

 hard and soft landscape; 

 technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

 social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 

7.6.5 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at all 
levels, including: 

 

 the layout; 

 the form and scale of buildings; 

 their appearance; 

 landscape; 

 materials; and 

 their detailing. 
 

7.6.6 The Guide further iterates that all developments are made up of these components put 
together in a particular way. As such, the choices made in the design process contribute 
towards achieving the ten characteristics and shape the character of a place. For reference, 
these ten characteristics are as follows: 

 

 Context – enhances the surroundings; 

 Identity – attractive and distinctive; 

 Built form – a coherent pattern of built form; 

 Movement – accessible and easy to move around; 

 Nature – enhanced and optimised; 

 Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive; 

 Uses – mixed and integrated; 

 Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable; 

 Resources – efficient and resilient; 

 Lifespan – made to last. 
 

7.6.7 The Council’s Design Guide SPD (2009) sets out that a high quality environment is essential 
for providing a good quality of life for residents. A well-designed and managed space not only 
provides a visually attractive environment, but can also help to ensure that a place is easy to 
move around and within, is safe and secure, and is useful for all members of the community. 

 
7.6.8 A full description of the proposed works is set out at paragraph 3.2 of this report. 
 
7.6.9 As noted above, it is considered that the building as proposed would sit comfortably within its 

surroundings in terms of height and would respond positively to surrounding buildings in 
terms of its form and the treatment of the elevations. As a consequence, it is considered that 
the development would preserve the character and appearance of the area.  

 
7.6.10 Given that the proposal would result in limited additional built form being introduced to the 

site and all of that which is proposed would be located within the existing footprint, the 
development is not considered to give rise to any other material visual or design 
considerations beyond those already considered. 

 

Page 43



- 18 - 

7.7 Neighbouring Amenities 
 
7.7.1 Policy FP7 of the Local Plan requires all development proposals to minimise, and where 

possible, reduce air, water, light and noise pollution. Planning permission will be granted 
when it can be demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on 
general amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area. Policies GD1 and HO5 also require 
that developments do not have an adverse impact on neighbouring uses or the surrounding 
area. 

 
7.7.2 In this case, the principal neighbouring properties to be considered are the residential 

properties to the south of the site i.e. 15 to 24 Howarde Court. 
 
7.7.3 It is noted that an objection has been received from a resident of Howarde Court, which cites 

loss of privacy and loss of natural light as reasons for objecting. It is further noted that this 
objection was made on the basis of the scheme as originally submitted and that consultation 
on the amended scheme is ongoing. 

 
7.7.4 The existing southern elevation (facing Howarde Court) features five windows which, at the 

closest point, are located approximately 14m from the rear elevation of 21 Howarde Court 
and approximately 4m from the boundary of this property. As the objection correctly points 
out, the proposal would see the number of windows in this elevation increase to twelve. 

 
7.7.5 However, under the amended proposal, six of these windows (those closest to 21 Howarde 

Court) would be obscure glazed and fixed shut. They would also no longer be angled 
towards 21 Howarde Court, instead being set flush with the elevation.  

 
7.7.6 It must be recognised that some views over Howarde Court, in particular the rear gardens of 

21 to 24 Howarde Court, would still be possible from the proposed development. However, 
the amendments to the scheme have significantly reduced the number of unobscured 
windows, changed their orientation and increased their distance from the affected properties. 
It is considered that the resultant views would be approximately equivalent to those possible 
from the existing lawful use of the site as an office and the extant prior approval scheme for 
residential change of use, both of which entail a degree of overlooking. 

 
7.7.7 Having regard to this, and noting that the typical relationship between buildings in the 

surrounding area affords a degree of mutual overlooking, it is considered that the proposed 
development, as amended, would have an acceptable impact on the privacy of neighbouring 
occupiers. 

 
7.7.8 Turning to natural light, it is acknowledged that the proposed development would result in 

some overshadowing of the rear gardens of 21 to 24 Howarde Court. However, given that 
the site is located to the north-west of these properties, any such overshadowing would be 
limited to the evenings. It would also be limited in its extent, given that the height of the 
building would increase by only 900mm. It is therefore considered that the proposed 
development would not result in undue loss of natural light for neighbouring occupiers. 

 
7.7.9 In terms of overbearing appearance, again it is noted that the proposed new built form would 

be located wholly within the existing footprint of the building, comprising a modest 900mm 
upward extension. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not 
appear overbearing when viewed from neighbouring properties. 

 
7.7.10 In terms of noise, it is considered that the proposed development would not give rise to any 

noise over and above that which would ordinarily be expected from a residential 
development. Within an area that contains a significant amount of housing, this is considered 
to be appropriate. Any impacts of construction noise would be mitigated by way of a 
construction environmental management plan, which would be secured by condition. 

 

Page 44



- 19 - 

7.7.11 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would not have 
any undue adverse impacts on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. In this respect, the 
proposal is considered to accord with Policy FP7 of the Local Plan 2019.  

 
7.8 Parking  
 
7.8.1 Car Parking 
 
7.8.2 Policy IT5 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to comply with the parking 

standards set out in the Stevenage Borough Council Parking Provision and Sustainable 
Transport SPD 2020. According to these standards, 1 car parking space should be provided 
per one-bed flat, and 1.5 spaces should be provided per two- and three-bed flat. For the 
current proposal, this results in a requirement for 16 car parking spaces. 

 
7.8.3 However, the site is located within Residential Parking Accessibility Zone 1, which means the 

number of car parking spaces can be reduced to between 25% and 50% of the usual 
requirement. Applying this to the current proposal results in a requirement for between four 
and eight car parking spaces. 

 
7.8.4 The application in fact proposed eight parking spaces. While this is above the suggested 

level, it is considered appropriate, noting the limited availability of on-street car parking on 
Primett Road.  

 
7.8.5 Disabled Parking 
 
7.8.6 The Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD requires 5% of all car parking spaces 

to be provided for disabled motorists. In this case, this would amount to less than one space. 
 

7.8.7 Ordinarily, one space would nevertheless be requested. However, given that none of the 
proposed flats would be suitable for disabled occupants (accommodation at first floor level 
and above, with no step-free access), it would not be reasonable to seek disabled car 
parking spaces. It should also be noted that the prior approval fallback scheme would not 
provide any disabled car parking, so the current proposal would have no greater impact in 
this regard. 

 
7.8.8 Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
 
7.8.9 The Council is committed to supporting the transition to electric vehicles. Accordingly, 

development proposals are expected to adhere to the following principles: 
 

 All new car parking should be designed to fulfil a Passive Electrical Vehicle Charging 
Point standard. This will mean that the underlying infrastructure is provided for 
connection to the electricity network but it will need to be activated through the 
installation of a charge point to be used in the future as technologies evolve and uptake 
increases. 

 The blend of access to charging points provided within new developments (i.e. public, 
restricted access, open access, shared) should be determined having regard to a travel 
plan. 

 A minimum of 20% of new parking on a site should have access to an active EV 
charging point. 

 A flexible approach to the requirement for speed of charging will be taken due to the 
pace of change of this technology. Ultra-fast charging points will become expected at 
short term, non-residential parking spaces as technology improves to make the use of 
electric vehicles more efficient. 

 

Page 45



- 20 - 

7.8.10 The proposed development would provide all of the proposed car parking spaces with active 
charging points. This exceeds the requirements of the SPD and is considered to be 
appropriate. 

 
7.8.11 Motorcycle Parking 

 
7.8.12 The Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD requires applicants to allow for 

around 5% of the total stock of publicly accessible vehicle parking spaces to be for 
motorcycle use. The proposed development would not provide any motorcycle parking 
spaces, which is considered to be acceptable given the low level of car parking (5% of the 
total would amount to less than one space).  

 
7.8.13 Cycle Parking 
 
7.8.14 The standard for cycle parking is for 1 space per one-bed unit, 2 spaces per two-bed unit and 

3 spaces per three-bed unit. This amounts to a total requirement for 24 cycle parking spaces 
to serve the development. 

 
7.8.15 The submitted site layout shows the provision of 24 cycle parking spaces in the form of 

Sheffield stands located adjacent to the site entrance, alongside the bin store and stair core. 
The siting of the stands and the overall level of provision is considered to be acceptable.  

 
7.8.16 Overall 
 
7.8.17 Having regard to the above, the proposal is considered to accord with the requirements of 

the Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD in terms of the overall level of car 
parking, facilities for disabled motorists, electric vehicle charging points, motorcycle parking, 
and cycle parking. Accordingly, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy 
IT5 of the Local Plan 2019, which requires development proposals to comply with the SPD. It 
is recommended that conditions be imposed on any grant of planning permission to secure 
the provision of the various parking spaces and electric vehicle charging infrastructure prior 
to occupation of the site. 

 
7.9 Highway Safety 
 
7.9.1 Policy IT4 of the Local Plan 2019 states that planning permission will be granted where 

development would not have an adverse impact on highway safety. 
 
7.9.2 The proposed development would retain the existing gated access leading off Primett Road. 

The local highway authority has not raised any objection to this arrangement and it is 
therefore considered to be acceptable. It should be noted that the traffic generated by the 
scheme is likely to be lower than the existing lawful use of the site as an office. It would 
therefore have less impact on the wider highway network. 

 
7.9.3 The local highway authority does however raise concerns regarding construction traffic and 

consequently recommends a condition to secure a construction transport management plan. 
Such a condition is considered to be appropriate. 

 
7.9.4 Having regard to these considerations, as well as the conclusions reached in the previous 

section regarding the level of car parking (and the consequent low likelihood of overspill car 
parking), it is considered that the proposed development would not have an adverse impact 
on highway safety. It follows that the proposal is in accordance with Policy IT4 of the Local 
Plan 2019.  

 
7.10 Flood Risk and Drainage 
 

Page 46



- 21 - 

7.10.1 Policy FP2 of the Local Plan requires applications for major development in Flood Zone 1 to 
be accompanied by an appropriate flood risk assessment. Given that the site has an area of 
more than one hectare, a flood risk assessment is required in this case and one has been 
submitted. 

 
7.10.2 The flood risk assessment must demonstrate, as a minimum: 

 

 An estimate of how much surface water runoff the development will generate; 

 Details of existing methods for managing surface water runoff, e.g. drainage to a 
sewer; and 

 Plans for managing surface water and for making sure there is no increase in the 
volume of surface water and rate of surface water runoff. 

 
7.10.3 Policy FP2 also requires that the use of SuDS is maximised on site so as not to increase 

flood risk and to reduce flood risk wherever possible.  
 
7.10.4 The applicant has not submitted a drainage strategy in support of the application. However, 

the application notes that surface water will be disposed of via a soakaway. As such, the 
development seeks to utilise the existing drainage strategy which is already in place serving 
the vacant office building.  

 
7.10.5 At the time of writing this report, the Council’s Drainage Advisor had not provided any formal 

comments on this application. Therefore, if the comments are not received by the time the 
application is to be determined at Planning and Development Committee, it is recommended 
that delegated powers are given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulatory and the 
Chairman of the Planning Committee that in the event the Council’s Drainage Consultant do 
provide comments on the strategy with a suggested list of conditions, then these conditions 
would be imposed accordingly before any planning permission is issued by the Council. 
However, if the Council’s Drainage Consultant raises a substantive objection to the 
application and this cannot be resolved, then it is recommended that the application is 
referred back to the Planning and Development Committee for its decision.  

 
7.11 Impact on the environment 
 
  Land Contamination 
 
7.11.1 Policy FP5 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to be supported by an 

appropriate preliminary risk assessment (PRA), demonstrating that any necessary 
remediation and subsequent development poses no risk to the population, environment or 
groundwater bodies. 

 
7.11.2 The application site as it exists today is the result of development in the late 1990’s. It has 

been in use as an office since that date and since this is a not a use likely to have 
contaminated the land, the development is not considered to give rise to any significant risks 
as a result of contamination. The Council’s Environmental Health Department have been 
consulted on the application and have not raised any concerns in this regard. 

 
7.11.3 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the development would not have any 

unacceptable adverse impacts as a result of land contamination. The proposal is therefore 
considered to be in accordance with Policy FP5 of the Local Plan 2019. 

 
7.11.4 Light pollution 
 

 In terms of light pollution, Policy FP7 of the Local Plan 2019 requires all development 
proposal should minimise, where possible, reduce….light…pollution. Applications for 
development where pollution is suspected must contain sufficient information for the 

Page 47



- 22 - 

application to make a full assessment on impacts. Planning permission will be granted where 
it can be demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on: 

 
 a. the natural environment, general amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area which 

includes light pollution; 
 b. health and safety of the public; and 
 c. The compliance with statutory environmental quality standards.  
 

7.11.5 The application does not provide details of external lighting. However, a condition is 
recommended to ensure that any external lighting installed at the site is angled so as not to 
result in any spillage beyond the site boundaries. Subject to this condition, it is considered 
that any external lighting would not cause nuisance to nearby residential occupiers or have 
any adverse impact on the wider environment. 

 
7.12 Trees and Landscaping 
 
7.12.1 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF is clear that trees make an important contribution to the 

character and quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate 
change. Planning decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined, that opportunities 
are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments, that appropriate measures are in 
place to secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that existing trees are 
retained wherever possible. 

 
7.12.2 Policy NH5 of the Local Plan states that development proposals will be expected to protect 

and retain individual trees within development sites and should include new planting where 
appropriate. 

 
7.12.3 The existing site is entirely developed and does not contain any trees, with the only soft 

landscaping being a modest area of mixed hedging along the southern boundary. No 
landscaping details have been submitted with the application and according to the submitted 
block plan, the only proposed soft landscaping would be a small area of amenity grass within 
the communal amenity space. 

 
7.12.4 Given the existing condition of the site and its physical constraints, the level of proposed 

landscaping is considered to be acceptable and no further details are considered to be 
necessary in this regard.     

 
7.13 Climate Change 
 
7.13.1 Policy FP1 of the Local Plan states that planning permission will be granted for 

developments that can incorporate measures to address adaptation to climate change. New 
development, including building extensions, refurbishments and conversions will be 
encouraged to include measures such as: 

 

 Ways to ensure development is resilient to likely future variations in temperature; 

 Reducing water consumption to no more than 110 litres per person per day including 
external water use; 

 Improving energy performance of buildings; 

 Reducing energy consumption through efficiency measures; and 

 Using or producing renewable or low carbon energy from a local source. 
 

7.13.2 The application is not supported by an energy strategy and no specific measures have been 
put forward in terms of adaptation to climate change. It is therefore recommended that a 
condition be imposed on any grant of permission to secure details of sustainability measures 
for the scheme.  

 

Page 48



- 23 - 

7.13.3 Subject to the above condition, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy FP1 of the 
Local Plan 2019. 

 
7.14 Crime Prevention 
 
7.14.1 Policy GD1 of the Local Plan requires developments to create safe environments that design 

out crime. Hertfordshire Constabulary’s Crime Prevention Design Officer was consulted on 
the application and noted that the application lacks any detailed consideration of crime 
prevention measures. As a result, the Officer was unable to fully support the application. 

 
7.14.2 In accordance with the Officer’s recommendation, the applicant is strongly encouraged to 

seek Secured by Design accreditation by way of an informative to this effect. 
 
7.15 Developer Obligations and CIL 
 
7.15.1 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 

on 1 April 2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects based 
on the type, location and floor space of a development, in line with the rates shown in the 
table below. 

  

Development Type CIL Rate (£ per square metre) 

 Zone 1: Stevenage Central, 
Stevenage West Urban 
Extension and North of 
Stevenage Extension 

Zone 2: Everywhere else 

Residential  

Market housing £40/m2 £100/m2 

Sheltered housing £100/m2 

Extra care housing £40/m2 

Retail development £60/m2 

All other development £0/m2 

 
7.15.2 The proposed development would be liable for CIL, which would be chargeable at a rate of 

£100/m2. 
 
7.15.3 The development would not give rise to any requirement for bespoke obligations. 
 
7.16 Biodiversity 

7.16.1 The NPPF and accompanying Planning Practice Guidance requires the Council to achieve 
measurable net gains in biodiversity at development sites across the Borough. To achieve a 
biodiversity net gain, a development must deliver a minimum of 10% net gain post 
development, when compared with the pre-development baseline. The Council’s recently 
adopted Biodiversity SPD (2021) requires all major and minor applications other than the 
following exemptions currently suggested by the Government to demonstrate a net gain in 
biodiversity: 

i. Permitted development; 
ii. Householder development, including extensions; 
iii. Nationally significant infrastructure, which falls within scope of the Planning Act 2008; 
iv. Some brownfield sites with marginal viability and substantial constraints. It is expected 

that full details to be set out in secondary legislation, but considerations are likely to 
include where sites contain a high proportion of derelict land and buildings and only a 
small percentage of the site is undeveloped, land values are significantly lower than 
average, and the site does not contain any protected habitats; and 

v. Developments that would not result in measurable loss or degradation of habitat, for 
instance change of use or alterations to buildings 

Page 49



- 24 - 

7.16.2 In this case, the application site, which is a brownfield site, is almost entirely developed, with 
only small areas of mixed hedging and no tree cover. The site therefore offers very limited 
habitat for species of ecological importance. Furthermore, it is not within close proximity to 
any statutory or non-statutory designated conservation sites. 

 
7.16.3 In light of the above, the proposal is considered to fall within exemption (iv) and it is not 

necessary to demonstrate a measurable net gain in biodiversity in this instance.  
 

7.17 Other Matters 
 
 Air Quality 

 
7.17.1 Policy FP7 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) states that all development proposals should 

minimise, and where possible, reduce air, water, light and noise pollution. Looking at air 
quality and air pollution specifically, the development is not located within or in close 
proximity to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). Therefore it was not necessary for the 
application to be supported by an air quality assessment. It is noted that there would be 
activities which will affect local air quality during demolition of the existing building and 
construction of the development. These include dust emissions and exhaust emissions from 
plant, machinery and construction traffic. 

 
7.17.2  In order to mitigate the construction phase, details of control of dust emissions shall be 

approved as part of the Construction Management Plan (CMP) to be secured by condition. 
The Council’s Environmental Health Department has not raised any concerns in terms of air 
quality.  

 
 Fire Safety 
 

7.17.3 Fire safety is a material consideration. However, the application does not trigger any 
requirement for a fire safety statement.  

 
7.17.4 The Herts Fire and Rescue Water Officer was consulted on the application. They advised 

that the existing hydrant would provide sufficient coverage for the site and the proposal 
would not require any additional hydrants to be installed. 

 
 Human Rights and Equalities 

 
7.17.5 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a violation 
of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
7.17.6 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully aware 

of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the decision that 
they are taking. Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential 
impact of that decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. 
As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers 

 
7.17.7 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster good 
relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the Equality Act and 
persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act are: age; 
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Page 50



- 25 - 

7.17.8 The proposal would not provide any disabled parking but given the nature of the 
development, it would not be practicable to do so. Aside from this, it is considered that the 
proposed development would not impact persons with any of the protected characteristics 
listed under the Equalities Act. 

 

8 CONCLUSIONS  
 
8.1 The Council is currently able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 

(with a 20% buffer) and the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was 
79% of the housing requirement over the previous three years. Therefore, the policies that 
are most important for determining the application are considered up-to-date and Paragraph 
11(d) of the Framework is not engaged. 

 
8.2 The proposed development would provide eleven additional dwellings, making a modest 

contribution to the aim of boosting housing supply through the redevelopment of sustainable 
brownfield sites. This is a benefit to the proposal but given the quantum of proposed units 
and the fact that the supply of land for housing within the Borough is not currently 
constrained, it only attracts moderate weight in favour of the proposal.  

 
8.3 The development would also benefit the local economy by providing construction jobs and 

increasing population density on the edge of the High Street Shopping Area. Again, these 
benefits are considered to be modest and accordingly, they attract moderate weight in favour 
of the proposal. 

 
8.3 However, the dwellings would be provided at the expense of the existing office use of the site 

and the applicant has not demonstrated that sufficient alternative employment land is located 
elsewhere, nor has the site been unsuccessfully marketed for office use. Furthermore, the 
proposal is not considered to provide overriding benefits against other development plan 
objectives. The application is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy EC7 of the Local 
Plan. 

 
8.4 Likewise, the development would not provide any affordable housing, which is required for 

major residential schemes. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy HO7 of the Local 
Plan. 

 
8.5 Ordinarily, these policy conflicts would carry significant weight against the proposal. 

However, in light of the extant prior approval for the site which would, if implemented, result 
in the loss of the entirety of the office space and the introduction of eight dwellings with no 
affordable housing, it is considered that only very limited weight should be attributed. 

 
8.6 In terms of the mix of dwelling sizes, the standard of the proposed accommodation, the 

impact on the Old Town High Street Conservation Area and visual amenities more generally, 
the impact on the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, and the impacts on parking 
and highway safety, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable. These are 
neutral matters. 

 
8.7 Having regard to the above, the modest benefits of delivering eleven dwellings are 

considered to outweigh the very limited adverse impacts relating to affordable housing and 
the loss of office space. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with the 
development plan and in the absence of any other material considerations indicating that 
permission should be refused, it is recommended that the application be approved. 

 

9 RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions and the transfer of 

the signed S106 legal agreement which has secured and/or provides: 

Page 51



- 26 - 

 

 Employment and Apprenticeship Opportunities 

 

9.2 With delegated powers be given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation in 

consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee to negotiate and secure the obligation 

detailed above (including triggers where appropriate) as part of the Section 106 Agreement in 

order to mitigate the developments impact on infrastructure as well as secure the planning 

benefits which this scheme seeks to deliver. In addition, the imposition of suitable 

safeguarding conditions, with authority given to the Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regulation in consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to the 

suggested draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being issued, 

where such amendments or additions would be legally sound and most effectively deliver the 

development that the Planning Committee has resolved to approve. 

  

Conditions 

General 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 2132-001; 2132-004B; 2132-005B; 2132-006B; 2132-007B. 

  
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
  

REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
3. No demolition, construction or maintenance activities audible at the boundary and no 

deliveries of construction and demolition materials shall be undertaken outside the hours 
07:30 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, 08:00 hours to 13.00 hours on Saturdays 
and shall not operate on a Sunday or Bank Holiday, unless otherwise agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON:- To ensure the demolition of the existing buildings and the construction and 
maintenance of the development does not prejudice the amenities of occupiers of nearby 
premises due to noise pollution.  
 

4. Any external lighting installed at the site shall be angled so as to avoid any spillage beyond 
the site boundaries unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

  
REASON:- In order to protect the amenities and operations of neighbouring properties, to 
ensure any external lighting does not prejudice highway safety and in the interests of 
minimising light pollution. 
 

5. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the local planning authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and 
where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 

 

Page 52



- 27 - 

 REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any risk to human health and to ensure 
that the development does not contribute to unacceptable concentrations of pollution posing 
a risk to public water supply from previously unidentified contamination sources at the 
development site and to prevent deterioration of groundwater and/or surface water by 
demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan have been met and 
that remediation of the site is completed. 

 
Prior to Commencement 

 
6. No development shall take place (including site clearance) until a construction management 

plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plan. The construction management plan shall include details of the following: 

  
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  

b) Access arrangements to site; 

c) Traffic and pedestrian management requirements;  

d) Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 

loading / unloading and turning areas); 

e) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  

f) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;  

g) Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and to 

avoid school pick up/drop off times;  

h) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction activities;  

i) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary access 

to the public highway; 

j) Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site, a plan should be submitted 

showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, pedestrian routes 

and remaining road width for vehicle movements;  

k) A Site Waste Management Plan including mechanisms to deal with environmental 

impacts such as air quality and dust control measures, noise and vibration restriction 

measures, light and odour and predicted and latterly actual waste arisings and how this 

is to be managed and where it is sent to. 

l)  Dust control measures during demolition and construction from plant and machinery, 

and vehicles. 

REASON:-  In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way, in the interests of amenities of neighbouring properties, to ensure 
suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development, in order to reduce the level of 
waste generated during groundworks and construction phases of development and to recycle 
all waste materials where possible. 
 

7. No development shall take place (excluding demolition and site clearance) until a detailed 
surface water drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface water 
run-off generated up to and including 1 in 100 year + climate change critical storm will not 
exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall event. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details before 
the development is completed.  

 
1) Detailed infiltration tests conducted to BRE Digest 365 standards and geotechnical 

investigations to confirm the feasibility of discharge via infiltration and groundwater 
levels on site.  

2) Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross section 
drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features including any 
connecting pipe runs.  

Page 53



- 28 - 

3) Final post-development network calculations for all storm events up to and including 
the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change event with half drain down times.  

4) Exceedance flow paths for surface water for events greater than the 1 in 100 year 
including climate change allowance.  

5) Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  

 
REASON:- To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site.  

 
 Prior to Work above Slab Level 
 
8. No development shall take place above slab level until a schedule and samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces and hard landscaping of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the development has a high quality appearance. 
 

9. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the refuse stores as shown 
on the approved plans have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved refuse stores shall then be installed in full prior to beneficial 
occupation of the development and permanently retained as such thereafter.  

  
REASON:- To ensure the proper disposal of waste for the lifetime of the development 

 
10. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the cycle parking stands as 

shown on the approved plans have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved cycle stands shall then be installed in full prior to beneficial 
occupation of the development and permanently retained as such thereafter.  

  
REASON:- To ensure adequate secure and covered cycle parking provision is available at 
all times to promote sustainable modes of transport. 

 
11. No development shall take place above slab level until details of the specification and siting 

of the active electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved EVCPs shall be installed in full prior to 
beneficial occupation of the development and permanently retained as such thereafter. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure adequate provision of active EVCPs within in the development and for 

all types of drivers is available at all times to promote sustainable modes of transport. 
 
12. No development shall take place above slab level until an addendum to the submitted noise 

assessment, taking into account the amendments to flat 11, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any recommended measures in the 
approved addendum shall then be implemented in full prior to beneficial occupation of the 
development and permanently maintained thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure satisfactory living conditions for future occupants of the development. 
 
 Prior to Occupation/Completion 
 

Page 54



- 29 - 

13. Prior to occupation of the development an updated Travel Plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the development shall be 
occupied until implementation of the approved Travel Plan. Those parts of the approved 
Travel Plan that are identified therein as being capable of implementation after occupation 
shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein and shall continue 
to be implemented as long as any part of the development is occupied. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the development are 

promoted and maximised. 
 
14. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay shall be 

provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved drawing number 
18081_001 Rev A. The splay shall thereafter be retained at all times free from any 
obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway. 

 
REASON:- To ensure that the level of visibility for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles is 
satisfactory in the interests of highway safety. 

 
15. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access 

arrangements, on-site car and cycle parking, and turning areas shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved plans and retained thereafter available for that specific use. 

 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

16. Prior to the first occupation of the development, the noise mitigation measures detailed in 
Section 5.2 of “Stamford House, Primett Road, Planning Noise Assessment” Report 
Reference RK3174/20439/Rev1, Dated 10/12/2021 by Spectrum Acoustic Consultants shall 
be implemented in full. The measures shall be permanently maintained thereafter unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure satisfactory living conditions for occupants of the development. 
 
17. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed communal 

outdoor amenity space shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plans and 
retained thereafter available for that specific use. 

 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of the 
living conditions of future occupants. 

 
18. Upon completion of the drainage works for the site and in accordance with the timing/phasing 

arrangement, a management and maintenance plan for the SuDS features and drainage 
network must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include:  

 
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings for site drainage.  
2. Maintenance and operational activities.  
3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation of the 

scheme throughout its lifetime.  
 

REASON:- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface 
water from the site. 

 
Informatives 

 
1. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the construction of this 

development should be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the 

Page 55



- 30 - 

use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible, 
authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the County Council website at: 

 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx  
 
or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
2. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful 

authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public 
right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way 
network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction works commence. 
Further information is available via the County Council website at: 

 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx  
 
or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
3. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or 

other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made up carriageway, or any or other 
debris on a highway to the interruption of any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act 
gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. 

 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving 
the site during construction of the development and use thereafter are in a condition such as 
not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 
available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
4. The proposed development should achieve Secured by Design (SBD) accreditation in order 

for it to comply with current Building Regulations. The Police Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor can be contracted by telephone on 01707 355227  

 
5. Building Regulations 
 

To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us 
on 01438 879990. 

 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 
https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made online or by phoning the 
above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire Building 
Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building Control 
Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and fee 
building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter of the 
work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

 
         Excavation for foundations 
         Damp proof course 
         Concrete oversite 

Page 56



- 31 - 

         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
         Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
        Completion 
 

Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to ensure a 
same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 

6. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 2020.  

 
This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the CIL 
Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even if you are 
granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement under 
Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that 
CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean you risk 
losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be imposed. NB, please note 
that a Commencement Notice is not required for residential extensions if relief has been 
granted.  

 
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on the 
Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL Team 
at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 

 
Pro-active Statement 
 
Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 
through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the 
determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore 
acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 

relating to this item. 
 
2.  The Stevenage Local Plan 2011-2031. 
 
4. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision and 

Sustainable Transport SPD (2020); Developer Contributions SPD (2021); The impact of 
Development on Biodiversity SPD (2020); Design Guide SPD (2009). 

 
5. Hertfordshire County Council Local Transport Plan LTP4 2018-2031 
 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and the National Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
7. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred 

to in this report. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



DC36 

PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date:    

IMPORTANT  INFORMATION - DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Author – Technical Support 01438 242838 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

The Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation has issued decisions in respect of the 
following applications in accordance with his delegated authority:- 
 
 
1.  Application No : 21/00164/FP 

 
 Date Received : 28.02.21 

 
 Location : 11 Baker Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3AL 

 
 Proposal : Retrospective planning permission for a single storey rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
2.  Application No : 21/01162/FP 

 
 Date Received : 26.10.21 

 
 Location : Land To Rear Of 36 Fellowes Way And 57 Woodland Way 

Stevenage Herts SG2 8BW 
 

 Proposal : Erection of  1no. two bedroom dwelling 
 

 Date of Decision : 30.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



DC36 

 
3.  Application No : 21/01234/FP 

 
 Date Received : 15.11.21 

 
 Location : 33A Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use to hot food takeaway (sui generis) 

 
 Date of Decision : 27.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
4.  Application No : 21/01235/FP 

 
 Date Received : 15.11.21 

 
 Location : 1B Market Place Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use to hot food takeaways (sui generis) 

 
 Date of Decision : 27.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
5.  Application No : 21/01275/COND 

 
 Date Received : 29.11.21 

 
 Location : The Bragbury Centre Kenilworth Close Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 29 (Boundary Treatment) attached to 

planning permission reference number 20/00736/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
6.  Application No : 21/01324/CPAS 

 
 Date Received : 14.12.21 

 
 Location : Hollywood Bowl Stevenage Leisure Park Kings Way Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Installation of roof mounted 218.01KWP Solar PV system 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
  

Page 60



DC36 

 
 
7.  Application No : 21/01354/FP 

 
 Date Received : 22.12.21 

 
 Location : Land To The West Of North Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4BB 

 
 Proposal : Access works (comprising a new access to land to the west of 

North Road) on North Road, Stevenage. 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
8.  Application No : 21/01356/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.12.21 

 
 Location : Priory Meadow Rectory Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Part two storey, part first floor rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 25.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
9.  Application No : 21/01368/FP 

 
 Date Received : 29.12.21 

 
 Location : Bennetts Car Parts 129C High Street Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of single storey element fronting onto Church Lane 

and its redevelopment with 4 x 2 bedroom flats, retention of 2-
storey section fronting onto Letchmore Road and conversion 
into a 1 bedroom dwelling 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
 
The quality of the proposed accommodation would be 
exceptionally poor, being cramped and noisy, suffering from 
odour, and offering limited defensible space, privacy or useable 
outdoor space. Future occupants would be likely to feel 
oppressed and suffer from a fear of crime, to the extent that 
living conditions would be unacceptable. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policy SP8 and GD1 of the Stevenage 
Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2031 (adopted 2019), the Design 
Guide SPD (2009), and the aims and objectives of Paragraphs 
92, 126, 130 and 134 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 
 
 

Page 61



DC36 

The proposed development would not provide any cycle parking 
facilities or otherwise encourage alternative forms of transport, 
thereby failing to adequately promote sustainable transport. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policies SP6 and IT5 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2031 (adopted 2019), 
the Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD (2020), 
and the aims and objectives of Paragraphs 110 and 112 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 
In the absence of a plan and corresponding legal agreement  to 
provide for the widening of the footway adjacent to the site on 
Church Lane, the proposed development would lead to a 
conflict between pedestrians and vehicular traffic, posing an 
unacceptable danger to highway users. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policies SP5, SP6 and IT5 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2031 (adopted 2019), 
the Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD (2020), 
and the aims and objectives of Paragraphs 110 and 112 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 
The proposed development, by reason of its scale and siting, 
would interrupt the established architectural hierarchy of the 
High Street and Church Lane, resulting in harm to the distinctive 
character of the area. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Policies SP8, HO5 and GD1 of the Stevenage Borough Local 
Plan 2011 to 2031 (adopted 2019), the Design Guide SPD 
(2009), and the aims and objectives of Paragraphs 126, 130 
and 134 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 
The proposed development, by reason of its scale and siting, 
would fail to preserve the character and appearance of the Old 
Town Conservation Area and the setting of the grade II listed 
properties at 123 to 129 High Street. This would amount to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of these assets, which 
would not be outweighed by the modest public benefits of the 
development. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies SP8, 
HO5, GD1 and TC9 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 
to 2031 (adopted 2019), the Old Town Conservation Area 
Management Plan SPD (2012), and the aims and objectives of 
Paragraphs 189 and 200 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 
 
 

 
 
10.  Application No : 22/00008/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 07.01.22 

 
 Location : 154 Fairview Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2NE 

 
 Proposal : Removal of deadwood and crown reduction of remaining 

canopy by 20-25% and reshaping to Norway Maple (T11) and 
crown reduction of canopy by 20-25% to Norway Maple (T12) 
protected by Tree Preservation Order 79 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

Page 62



DC36 

 
 
11.  Application No : 22/00013/COND 

 
 Date Received : 10.01.22 

 
 Location : 18 Julians Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3ET 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 3 (Materials) attached to planning 

permission reference number 21/00871/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
12.  Application No : 22/00019/FP 

 
 Date Received : 12.01.22 

 
 Location : 39 Fishers Green Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2PD 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of existing garage to facilitate the erection of 1no. 

two bedroom detached dwelling 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
13.  Application No : 22/00030/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 14.01.22 

 
 Location : 47 Burymead Stevenage Herts SG1 4AY 

 
 Proposal : First floor rear extension and single storey front porch. 

 
 Date of Decision : 06.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
14.  Application No : 22/00051/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 19.01.22 

 
 Location : 3 Pound Avenue Stevenage Herts SG1 3JB 

 
 Proposal : Part two storey, part single storey rear extension and single 

storey front extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 

Page 63



DC36 

15.  Application No : 22/00055/COND 
 

 Date Received : 20.01.22 
 

 Location : Garages And Forecourt Area To Rear Of 13-19 The Chace 
Stevenage Herts SG2 8QS 
 

 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 4 (Landscaping) and 10 (Boundary 
treatments) attached to planning permission reference number 
20/00672/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
16.  Application No : 22/00057/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 20.01.22 

 
 Location : 410 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DZ 

 
 Proposal : Retention of single storey front extension. 

 
 Date of Decision : 29.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
17.  Application No : 22/00059/COND 

 
 Date Received : 21.01.22 

 
 Location : Marshgate Car Park St. Georges Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 8 (soft landscaping) attached to planning 

permission reference number 21/00627/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
18.  Application No : 22/00064/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 24.01.22 

 
 Location : 96 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DH 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front and rear extensions 

 
 Date of Decision : 08.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 64



DC36 

 
19.  Application No : 22/00070/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 26.01.22 

 
 Location : 20 Barnwell Stevenage Herts SG2 9SJ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey extension which will extend beyond the rear wall 

of the original house by 5.0m, for which the maximum height will 
be 3.15m and the height of the eaves will be 3.15m 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
The proposed single storey rear extension would extend beyond 
a wall forming a side elevation of the original dwellinghouse and 
would have a width greater than half the width of the original 
dwellinghouse. Therefore, the proposed development would fail 
to accord with Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A (j) (iii) of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 and therefore, requires planning 
permission. 
 
The proposed single storey rear extension would extend off the 
rear wall of the utility room at the side of the dwelling by 
approximately 6.9m and therefore fails to accord with Schedule 
2, Part 1, Class A (g) of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 and 
therefore, requires planning permission. 
 

 
 
20.  Application No : 22/00078/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 01.02.22 

 
 Location : 34 Shephall Green Stevenage Herts SG2 9XS 

 
 Proposal : Erection of a summerhouse in rear garden 

 
 Date of Decision : 14.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
21.  Application No : 22/00088/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 03.02.22 

 
 Location : 185 Fairview Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2NA 

 
 Proposal : Reduce crown height and lateral branch length by 

approximately 4m and remove deadwood to 1No: Elm Tree (T4) 
protected by TPO 79 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 

Page 65



DC36 

 
 
22.  Application No : 22/00089/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.02.22 

 
 Location : 28 Park View Stevenage Herts SG2 8PU 

 
 Proposal : Part two-storey, part single-storey side and rear extension 

following demolition of existing conservatory 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
23.  Application No : 22/00095/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 05.02.22 

 
 Location : 10 Burymead Stevenage Herts SG1 4AX 

 
 Proposal : Proposed two storey side extension and part first floor rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
24.  Application No : 22/00116/FP 

 
 Date Received : 10.02.22 

 
 Location : Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Proposed extension within existing treatment centre undercroft 

carpark to create new elective procedure rooms with associated 
support accommodation, plant and parking reconfiguration 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
25.  Application No : 22/00119/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 11.02.22 

 
 Location : 34 Salisbury Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4PE 

 
 Proposal : Single Storey Side and Rear Extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 03.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 66



DC36 

 
26.  Application No : 22/00122/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 14.02.22 

 
 Location : 2 Keats Close Stevenage Herts SG2 0JD 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
27.  Application No : 22/00123/COND 

 
 Date Received : 14.02.22 

 
 Location : 17 Kennett Way Stevenage Herts SG1 3XU 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 3 (Materials) and 6 (Boundary 

Treatments) attached to planning permission reference 
19/00254/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 30.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
28.  Application No : 22/00124/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 16.02.22 

 
 Location : 163 Sish Lane Stevenage Herts SG1 3LP 

 
 Proposal : Single storey extension which will extend beyond the rear wall 

of the original house by 5.00m, for which the maximum height 
will be 2.70m and the height of the eaves will be 2.70m 
 

 Date of Decision : 30.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
The proposed single storey rear extension by reason of its 
overall size, height, bulk, siting and projection in relation to the 
neighbouring property would constitute an unneighbourly and 
over dominant form of development, resulting in an acceptable 
loss in outlook and amenity.  The development is, therefore, 
contrary to Policies GD1 and SP8 of the Stevenage Borough 
Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019), the Council's Design Guide SPD 
(2009), National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the 
Planning Practice Guidance (2014). 
 

 
  

Page 67



DC36 

 
 
29.  Application No : 22/00126/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 17.02.22 

 
 Location : 7 Waverley Close Stevenage Herts SG2 8RU 

 
 Proposal : First Floor Front Extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
30.  Application No : 22/00131/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 18.02.22 

 
 Location : 174 Mildmay Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5SZ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 08.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
31.  Application No : 22/00132/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 18.02.22 

 
 Location : 76 Raleigh Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 0ED 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of garage and construction of two storey side 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.03.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
32.  Application No : 22/00133/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 18.02.22 

 
 Location : 122 Chancellors Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4TZ 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for alterations to entrance door and 

window on the front elevation of the property. 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
  

Page 68



DC36 

 
 
 
 
33.  Application No : 22/00134/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 20.02.22 

 
 Location : 427 Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5DS 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 12.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
34.  Application No : 22/00136/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 21.02.22 

 
 Location : 45 Green Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3DS 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
35.  Application No : 22/00139/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 22.02.22 

 
 Location : Southend Farm 131 High Street Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of east and north side fencing and posts 

 
 Date of Decision : 19.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 69



DC36 

 
 
36.  Application No : 22/00142/COND 

 
 Date Received : 22.02.22 

 
 Location : The Wine Society Gunnels Wood Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 4 (traffic management) and 6 

(construction method) attached to planning permission 
reference number 14/00053/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 14.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
 
There is insufficient information supplied with this application to 
enable the Highway Authority to reach a recommendation. The 
plans do not provide the level of detail needed. Please see 
below for a guide to required information: 
 
a. Details shown on a plan delineating hoarding for traffic and 
pedestrian access. 
 
The details therefore fail to accord with the NPPF (2021), 
Manual for Streets 2007, Hertfordshire County Council's (HCC) 
Local Transport Plan-4 [2018-2031, May 2018] and Roads in 
Hertfordshire Design Guide 3rd Edition - 2011. 
 

 
 
37.  Application No : 22/00146/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.02.22 

 
 Location : 229 Telford Avenue Stevenage Herts SG2 0AT 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of garden shed with new BBQ cabin 

 
 Date of Decision : 08.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
38.  Application No : 22/00150/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 23.02.22 

 
 Location : 2 The Priory Rectory Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Side reduce and crown lift Monterey Cypress tree and remove 

storm damaged limb 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

Page 70



DC36 

 
 
39.  Application No : 22/00151/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 23.02.22 

 
 Location : 13 Breakspear Stevenage Herts SG2 9SQ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 13.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
40.  Application No : 22/00152/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 24.02.22 

 
 Location : 193 Webb Rise Stevenage Herts SG1 5QG 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for erection of 1.8m high fencing on 

each side of front garden and installation of a gate 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
41.  Application No : 22/00159/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 27.02.22 

 
 Location : 163 Collenswood Road Stevenage Herts SG2 9HD 

 
 Proposal : Two storey rear and single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 22.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
42.  Application No : 22/00162/FP 

 
 Date Received : 28.02.22 

 
 Location : 186 Bedwell Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 1NE 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to residential use for 

parking of 2 vehicles 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 71



DC36 

 
 
43.  Application No : 22/00165/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 28.02.22 

 
 Location : 113 Chancellors Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4TZ 

 
 Proposal : Fell to ground level 1No: T1: Ash Tree.  The tree is severely 

diseased and decayed and poses a serious health and safety 
risk. 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
44.  Application No : 22/00166/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 28.02.22 

 
 Location : 3 The Pastures Stevenage Herts SG2 7DF 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 03.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
45.  Application No : 22/00167/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 01.03.22 

 
 Location : 32 Goddard End Stevenage Herts SG2 7ER 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 20.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
46.  Application No : 22/00173/FP 

 
 Date Received : 02.03.22 

 
 Location : Marks And Spencer's  Unit 5 Roaring Meg Retail Park London 

Road Stevenage 
 

 Proposal : Erection of a rooftop structure for a 12 month period 
 

 Date of Decision : 27.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 72



DC36 

 
47.  Application No : 22/00176/FP 

 
 Date Received : 02.03.22 

 
 Location : 50 Brixham Close Stevenage Herts SG1 2RZ 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to residential use 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
48.  Application No : 22/00177/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.03.22 

 
 Location : 16 Whitesmead Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3LB 

 
 Proposal : Proposed single storey rear and side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 27.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
49.  Application No : 22/00178/FP 

 
 Date Received : 03.03.22 

 
 Location : G140 Torquay Crescent Stevenage Herts  

 
 Proposal : Replacement of five previously demolished garages with four 

proprietary garages on existing slab and foundations 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
50.  Application No : 22/00179/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.03.22 

 
 Location : 387 Ripon Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4LU 

 
 Proposal : Part single-storey, part two-storey rear extension. 

 
 Date of Decision : 06.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 73



DC36 

 
 
51.  Application No : 22/00183/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.03.22 

 
 Location : 3 Bawdsey Close Stevenage Herts SG1 2LA 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension and first floor side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 27.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
52.  Application No : 22/00185/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.03.22 

 
 Location : 2 Southwold Close Stevenage Herts SG1 2XL 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of conservatory and erection of single storey rear 

extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
53.  Application No : 22/00188/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 04.03.22 

 
 Location : 26 Park View Stevenage Herts SG2 8PU 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side extension to rear of existing garage and 

internal reconfiguration 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
54.  Application No : 22/00189/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 05.03.22 

 
 Location : 13 Essex Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3EZ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 29.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 74



DC36 

 
 
55.  Application No : 22/00190/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.03.22 

 
 Location : 4 Oakwell Close Stevenage Herts SG2 8UG 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 26.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
56.  Application No : 22/00191/FP 

 
 Date Received : 07.03.22 

 
 Location : 122 Valley Way Stevenage Herts SG2 9DD 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from amenity land to residential garden space 

 
 Date of Decision : 19.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
57.  Application No : 22/00195/CPAS 

 
 Date Received : 08.03.22 

 
 Location : Airbus Defence And Space Gunnels Wood Road Stevenage 

Herts 
 

 Proposal : Prior approval for the installation of photovoltaic (PV) panels on 
a non-domestic  premises 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
 
58.  Application No : 22/00197/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 08.03.22 

 
 Location : 20 Trent Close Stevenage Herts SG1 3RS 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed garage conversion 

 
 Date of Decision : 01.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
  

Page 75



DC36 

 
 
59.  Application No : 22/00200/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 09.03.22 

 
 Location : 6 Sheringham Avenue Stevenage Herts SG1 2JU 

 
 Proposal : Two-storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 03.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
60.  Application No : 22/00202/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 10.03.22 

 
 Location : 1 Green Close Stevenage Herts SG2 8BP 

 
 Proposal : Erection of single-storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 06.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
61.  Application No : 22/00204/FP 

 
 Date Received : 10.03.22 

 
 Location : Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Installation of new additional external plant rooms, AHU and 

maintenance access to Lister hospital tower roof 
 

 Date of Decision : 26.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
62.  Application No : 22/00205/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 10.03.22 

 
 Location : 40 Symonds Green Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2HA 

 
 Proposal : Erection of first floor side and rear extension 

 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 76



DC36 

 
 
 
 
63.  Application No : 22/00206/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 11.03.22 

 
 Location : 338 Archer Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5HN 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 05.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
64.  Application No : 22/00218/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 15.03.22 

 
 Location : 6 High Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3EJ 

 
 Proposal : Removal of 1no Cherry Tree 

 
 Date of Decision : 20.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
65.  Application No : 22/00220/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 15.03.22 

 
 Location : 93 Ripon Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4LW 

 
 Proposal : Proposed single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 03.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 77



DC36 

 
 
 
 
66.  Application No : 22/00222/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 16.03.22 

 
 Location : 167 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4EZ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey extension which will extend beyond the rear wall 

of the original house by 3.50m for which the maximum height 
will be 4.00m and the height of the eaves will be 4.50m 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
The proposed extension would exceed 4m in height and the 
height of the eaves would exceed 3m when within 2m of the 
boundary of the curtilage of the dwellinghouse. The proposal 
would therefore, require planning permission by virtue of 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A (g) (ii)  and Class A (i) of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
(England) 2015. 
 
No evidence has been provided as to the materials to be used 
in the construction of the proposed extension and therefore it is 
not possible to determine if they will have a similar appearance 
to the exterior of the existing dwellinghouse as per Schedule 2, 
Part 1, Class A, Condition A.3(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order (England) 
2015. 
 

 
 
67.  Application No : 22/00228/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.03.22 

 
 Location : 6 - 18 Meredith Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5QS 

 
 Proposal : Replacement roof, external cladding and balustrade to external 

access stairs 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 78



DC36 

 
 
68.  Application No : 22/00230/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 17.03.22 

 
 Location : Southend Farm (131) High Street Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Fell 5 No trees T1 - Cotoneaster, T2, T3, T4 - Leyland Cypress 

and T5 - Wild Cherry and Crown reduce height and spread by 
up to 3m to 1No Common Horse Chestnut -T6 
 

 Date of Decision : 27.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
69.  Application No : 22/00231/AD 

 
 Date Received : 18.03.22 

 
 Location : The Cromwell Hotel 25 - 27 High Street Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Retention of non-illuminated wall mural painted on southern side 

elevation 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
 
70.  Application No : 22/00234/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 18.03.22 

 
 Location : 17 Walkern Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3QX 

 
 Proposal : Fell 1No. Willow Tree -  T3 

 
 Date of Decision : 20.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
71.  Application No : 22/00239/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 21.03.22 

 
 Location : 83 Hayfield Stevenage Herts SG2 7JR 

 
 Proposal : Single storey side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 

Page 79



DC36 

 
 
72.  Application No : 22/00246/FP 

 
 Date Received : 22.03.22 

 
 Location : Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Removal of condition 2 (Crime Prevention) attached to planning 

permission reference number  21/01065/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
73.  Application No : 22/00247/FP 

 
 Date Received : 22.03.22 

 
 Location : Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Removal of condition 2 (Crime Prevention) attached to planning 

permission reference number 21/01064/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
74.  Application No : 22/00248/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 22.03.22 

 
 Location : 26 Frobisher Drive Stevenage Herts SG2 0HJ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension and two storey side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
75.  Application No : 22/00249/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 23.03.22 

 
 Location : Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission 21/01065/FP 

for:  1. Installation of plant to roof of paediatric extension.  2. 
Installation of timber plant screen to roof of paediatric extension 
3. Installation of retaining wall to front of paediatric extension.  4. 
Changes to external materials 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 

Page 80



DC36 

 
 
 
 
76.  Application No : 22/00253/FP 

 
 Date Received : 24.03.22 

 
 Location : 11 Church Lane Stevenage Herts SG1 3QS 

 
 Proposal : Variation of Condition 1 (Plans) to allow the repositioning of 

folding doors to the rear elevation on the part two storey and 
part single storey rear extension approved under planning 
permission ref. 19/00459/FPH 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
77.  Application No : 22/00254/LB 

 
 Date Received : 24.03.22 

 
 Location : 11 Church Lane Stevenage Herts SG1 3QS 

 
 Proposal : Variation of Condition 1 (Plans) to allow the repositioning of 

folding doors to the rear elevation on the part two storey and 
part single storey rear extension approved under planning 
permission ref. 19/00460/LB 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Listed Building Consent is GRANTED 
 

 
 
78.  Application No : 22/00259/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 24.03.22 

 
 Location : 9 Chestnut Walk Stevenage Herts SG1 4DD 

 
 Proposal : Fell 1no. Hawthorn tree, leaving a "pecking post" 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
  

Page 81



DC36 

 
 
 
79.  Application No : 22/00261/FP 

 
 Date Received : 25.03.22 

 
 Location : Lonsdale Road Service Station Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Extension to the existing sales building to accommodate coffee 

shop offer and associated works 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
80.  Application No : 22/00263/AD 

 
 Date Received : 25.03.22 

 
 Location : Currys, Unit 10 Roaring Meg Retail Park London Road 

Stevenage 
 

 Proposal : Installation of 3 no. externally illuminated static fascia signs and 
3 no. internally illuminated static fascia signs 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 

 
 
81.  Application No : 22/00266/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 28.03.22 

 
 Location : 12 Hollyshaws Stevenage Herts SG2 8NZ 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission reference 

number 21/00957/FP to alter the fenestrations on the northern 
and southern side elevations to facilitate internal alterations to 
create a three bedroom property 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
  

Page 82



DC36 

 
 
82.  Application No : 22/00274/COND 

 
 Date Received : 28.03.22 

 
 Location : Land Adjacent To 39 Jessop Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5LG 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 4 (landscaping); 8 (means of enclosure) 

and 14 (cycle parking) attached to planning permission 
reference number 21/00898/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
83.  Application No : 22/00275/COND 

 
 Date Received : 29.03.22 

 
 Location : Land Bordered By Ashdown Road, Malvern Close And Hertford 

Road Stevenage SG2 8BG  
 

 Proposal : Discharge of condition 11 (remediation scheme) attached to 
planning permission reference number 18/00401/FP 
 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
84.  Application No : 22/00279/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 30.03.22 

 
 Location : The Oaks 106 Burydale Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Fell Silver Birch, Purple Cherry Plum, Willow x 3, Silver Birch x 

2 - Prune by 2m Field Maple x 15, Common Ash - Prune by 1m 
Silver Birch 
Crown thin by 10% Apple Tree - Pedunculate Oak - Remove 
deadwood greater than 25mm 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
  

Page 83



DC36 

 
85.  Application No : 22/00296/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 04.04.22 

 
 Location : Electricity Substation Vinters Avenue Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission reference 

number 21/00494/FP for substitution of brick for 2 inward facing 
boundary walls from Ibstock Sevenoaks Yellow Oaks Yellow 
Stock to Traditional Brickstone Hammersmith London Stock 
65mm 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
86.  Application No : 22/00297/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 05.04.22 

 
 Location : 37 Burydale Stevenage Herts SG2 8AU 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for Proposed single storey rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
87.  Application No : 22/00298/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 05.04.22 

 
 Location : 423 Broadwater Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 8HD 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 04.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
88.  Application No : 22/00301/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 05.04.22 

 
 Location : Stevenage Excellence Centre Norton Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission reference 

number 21/01344/FP to change proposed internal floor layout 
and moving on external plant room 
 

 Date of Decision : 22.04.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 

Page 84



DC36 

 
 
 
 
89.  Application No : 22/00311/COND 

 
 Date Received : 07.04.22 

 
 Location : Car Park Bounded By Lytton Way, Danesgate And London 

Road  Stevenage Herts SG1 1LZ 
 

 Proposal : Discharge of Planning Condition 5 (Detailed Landscaping) 
pursuant to Planning Permission Reference: 20/00486/FPM and 
discharge of Planning Condition 2 (Landscaping) Pursuant to 
Planning Permission Reference 21/00950/NMA 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
90.  Application No : 22/00313/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 07.04.22 

 
 Location : 20 Turpins Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 8QR 

 
 Proposal : Single storey extension which will extend beyond the rear wall 

of the original house by 3.30m, for which the maximum height 
will be 3.50m and the height of the eaves will be 2.30m 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
 
91.  Application No : 22/00317/AD 

 
 Date Received : 08.04.22 

 
 Location : MBDA UK Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Installation of 1 no. non-illuminated fascia sign mounted on the 

south end of the existing building. 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
  

Page 85



DC36 

 
92.  Application No : 22/00326/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 09.04.22 

 
 Location : 189 Ascot Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 5SY 

 
 Proposal : Two storey side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
93.  Application No : 22/00329/LB 

 
 Date Received : 11.04.22 

 
 Location : The Cromwell Hotel 25 - 27 High Street Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Retention of wall mural painted on southern side elevation 

 
 Date of Decision : 13.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Listed Building Consent is GRANTED 
 

 
 
94.  Application No : 22/00333/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 12.04.22 

 
 Location : 20 Orchard Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3HE 

 
 Proposal : Fell 1no. Hawthorn, 1no. Yew and 1no. Holly Stem and reduce 

to a height of 6ft to form a hedge to 1no. group of Holly trees 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
95.  Application No : 22/00334/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 12.04.22 

 
 Location : 170 Gonville Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 9LZ 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness for proposed single storey rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 09.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 

Page 86



DC36 

 
96.  Application No : 22/00364/COND 

 
 Date Received : 17.04.22 

 
 Location : 48 Made Feld Stevenage Herts SG1 1PQ 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 7 (Boundary Treatments) and 10 

(Climate Adaptation Measures) attached to planning permission 
reference 19/00628/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.05.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 
number relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted January 2020. 
 

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019. 
 

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018.  
 

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

February 2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 

 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88



PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: Thursday 26 May 2022   

INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

Author – Linda Sparrow 01438 242837 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

1. APPEALS RECEIVED 

 
1.1 21/00809/FP.  168 Fairview Road.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for 

the erection on 1no. two bedroom detached dwellings with parking and access.  
 
1.2 21/01152/ENF.  68 Basils Road.  Appeal against the serving of an enforcement notice 

to remove the first floor of the two storey rear extension which was refused under 
planning permission reference number 21/01256/FPH.  

 
1.3 21/01256/FPH.  68 Basils Road.  Appeal against the refusal of planning permission for 

the retention of a part two storey, part single storey rear extension. 
 
1.4 21/01126/FP.  56 Austen Paths.  Appeal against the refusal of planning permission for 

the change of use from a 6-bedroom House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) Class C4, to 
a 7-bedroom HMO (Sui Generis), 3 x car parking spaces; 8-bicycle parking spaces, 
and location of 7-bin storage facilities to the rear driveway 
 

2. DECISIONS AWAITED 

2.1 19/000474/FPM, Land West of Lytton Way.  Appeal against refusal of planning 
permission for the demolition of existing office building (Use Class B1) and structures, 
and the construction of seven apartment buildings comprising 576 dwellings (Use 
Class C3) together with internal roads, parking, public open space, landscaping, 
drainage and associated infrastructure works. 

 
2.2 21/00681/AD, McDonalds, Monkswood Retail Park, Elder Way.  Appeal against refusal 

of advertisement consent for 1no. internally illuminated totem sign. 
 
2.3 21/01154/FPH, 40 Knights Templars Green.  Appeal against refusal of planning 

permission for the construction of a rear dormer window and raising the ridge height. 
 
 
3. DECISIONS RECEIVED 
 
3.1 21/00308/FPH, 21 Augustus Gate.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for 

a part two storey, part single storey side and single storey front extensions. 
 
3.2 The appeal was allowed. 
 
3.3 Officers raised concerns in the officer report that the plans were not consistent and 

appear to show the boundary fence being moved out onto highway grass on Page 89

Agenda Item 6



Fairlands way to accommodate the extension and make it appear to be set from the 
boundary when it won’t be.  The Inspector stated that the proposal appears to show 
all work contained within the red line plan and therefore has considered the appeal on 
the basis of the submitted plans.  No consideration was given to the discrepancy in 
the size of the red line plan between the existing and proposed site plans.  

 
3.4 The Inspector felt that despite the extension being highly visible in the street scene, 

its subservient appearance to the host dwelling is acceptable and as such would not 
harm the character and appearance of the dwelling or surrounding area. 

 
3.5 The Inspector concluded that the extension would be subservient to the host dwelling 

and therefore accord with the adopted Design Guide (2009) and policies GD1 and 
SP8 of the Local Plan (2019).  

Page 90



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 14 February 2022 

by Rebecca Thomas MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 05 April 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/K1935/D/21/3279883 

21 Augustus Gate, Stevenage, SG2 7QY 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Shane McGuire against the decision of Stevenage Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref 21/00308/FPH, dated 25 March 2021, was refused by notice dated 

20 May 2021. 

• The development proposed is Part two storey, part single storey side and single storey 

front extensions. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for is Part two storey, 
part single storey side and single storey front extensions at 21 Augustus Gate, 
Stevenage, SG2 7QY in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 

21/00308/FPH, dated 25 March 2021, subject to the following conditions:  

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  3285-20A1-01 – Existing Plans and 

elevations; 3285-20A4-04 – Site location plan; 3285-20A4-03A – Block 
Plan; 3285-20A1-02F – Proposed plans and elevations. 

2) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the extension hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing 
building.  

Procedural matters 

2. The description of development in the heading above has been taken from the 

Council’s decision notice.  However, in Part E of the appeal form it is stated that 
the description of development has not changed from that stated on the 
planning form.  Notwithstanding this, I have used the description as used on 

the Council’s decision notice as this more accurately describes the proposal as 
shown on the plans and I have considered the appeal on this basis. 

3. The Council has raised concern that the development would require the 
removal of the existing boundary fence to Fairlands Way and replacement or 
relocated fence.  Nonetheless, the proposal appears to show that all the 

development is contained within the red line as submitted, notwithstanding the 
location of the existing fence or its replacement and this is not disputed by 

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/D/21/3279883 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

either party.  Therefore, I have considered the proposals on the basis of the 

plans before me. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the character and 
appearance of the appeal site and the surrounding area. 

Reasons 

5. The appeal site is an end of terrace property located in a residential area, 
accessed from the cul-de-sac of Augustus Way, which is also accessible by foot 

from Fairlands Way. The southern boundary of the appeal site is located 
adjacent to this street.  The dwelling is constructed of yellow brick with a tile 
roof.  The boundary with Fairlands Way is a standard close-board fence.  There 

is a detached garage building to the east of the house, which is shared with a 
neighbouring property.   

6. To the west of the appeal site is a community centre and pharmacy building, of 
modern construction and set back from the road.  This building features red 
brick with clay tiles, dormer windows to the front and a single storey pharmacy 

building.  Fairlands Way is a main arterial route, with residential streets leading 
off it.  The local area is characterised by many dwellings which bound the 

street and pavement at varying angles and orientations, combined with the 
community and commercial uses along the street, such as the buildings 
adjacent to the appeal site and other uses.  I was able to see along the road 

varying types of boundary treatments, some of which are immediately abutting 
the pavement, others leaving some space before the pavement.  This includes 

blank walls of dwellings (some being two storey), brick walls, close board 
fences and hedges. 

7. The development would introduce a two storey extension to the property, 

including a single storey element which would wrap around the front and side 
of the house.  The development would include a hipped roof element, set below 

the ridgeline of the existing dwelling and include a mono-pitched roof to the 
side and a gabled porch element to the front elevation both at ground floor.  
The extensions would make use of the existing footprint of the dwelling and 

would not protrude beyond the existing rear elevation.   

8. Much of the dwelling and garage is visible from Fairlands Way given its 

orientation and location to this main road, combined with the marginally higher 
ground of the appeal site as compared to the street.  In this respect, I agree 
with the council that the appeal site is prominent as seen from the street.  

Nonetheless, the site as seen within the overall setting of the local area is not 
unusual or incompatible.  As described above, there are a variety of building 

types and orientations immediately adjacent to the pavement and visible within 
the local area.   

9. Whilst the proposed extensions would be visible, I am able to see from the 
plans before me that the extensions would be set down from the main roof of 
the existing dwelling, with the hipped roof element facing Fairlands Way.  I 

have noted the hipped roofs to the larger commercial and community buildings 
nearby, as well as blank gable walls which directly abut Fairlands Way and do 

not consider that the proposed development would be out of place with the 
character and appearance of the dwelling or the local area.  Although the 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/D/21/3279883 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

development would be brought closer to the boundary, this is not unusual as 

there are a number of dwellings forming the boundary with the road or 
pavement, or within proximity to it.  The widest part of the development is to 

be set closest to Fairlands Way, however, would remain single storey, whilst 
the two storey element would be reduced in its impact due to the hipped roof 
element.  These design elements would soften the impact close to Fairlands 

Way and would not be out of keeping in appearance or character to the local 
area. 

10. I have had regard to the Council’s Local Plan1 which expects at Policy GD1 that 
development represents good design, and at Policy SP8 that the standards of 
design also have regard to Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs).  The 

Council’s Design Guide SPD2 sets out guidance for residential extensions. This 
includes a requirement for extensions to appear subservient to the original 

house.  Whilst the development would be a large increase to the dwelling, the 
lower hipped two storey element and the mono-pitched ground floor element 
ensures that that the extensions remain subservient to the original house.  In 

this regard, the development would not conflict with the provisions of the Local 
Plan or the SPD.  For these reasons I find that the proposed development 

would also accord with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (The Framework) regarding good design. 

Other Matters 

11. I note that the appeal proposal is a resubmission, taking into account issues 
previously raised by the Council.  Whilst I have been provided with the details 

of that proposal, it is correct that I have assessed the current proposal on the 
basis of the information before me.  

12. There have been comments from both parties with regard to nearby 

developments and permissions.  Although there may be some similarities with 
the issues raised, there are still specific differences for each site.  Given these 

differences I have given these examples little weight, and in any event have 
considered this appeal on its own merits in light of the evidence before me. 

Conditions 

13. In addition to the standard timescale for implementation condition, it is 
necessary to attach a condition to confirm the approved drawings in the 

interests of certainty.  In the interests of the character and appearance of the 
area, I have also imposed a condition to ensure that the external surfaces 
materials would match the existing. 

Conclusion 

14. I have found that there is no harm to the character and appearance of the local 

area.  I therefore conclude that, subject to the above conditions, and having 
regard to all other matters raised, the appeal should be allowed. 

Rebecca Thomas 

INSPECTOR 

 
1 Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (May 2019) 
2 Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (October 2009) 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES - 5 April 2022
	3 21/00717/ENF - 134 Marymead Drive, Stevenage
	4 21/01366/FPM - Stamford House, Primett Road, Stevenage
	5 INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS
	Appeal Decision for 21 Augustus Gate


